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AS21 : Consolidated Financial Statements

Holding Co-
Control > Subsidiary Co .

HL+d. SLtd.

X Y

> 50% of OR
Power to

Voting power compose BOD

HL+C .
+ SLAC - => Consolidated

1) Balance Sheet Balance Sheet Cons . Balance Sheet

2) P&L P&L Cons . P&L

3) Cash flow statement Cash flow statement Cons . Cash flow statement

4) Notes to A/2S Notes to A/25 Cons. Notes to A/2S

* AS21 does not mandate preparation of CFS
,
but mandates process of Consolidation

*EJ Parent/Holding to holds 100 % Equity Share Capital , then subsidiar is called Wholey Owned Subsidiary.



Example
Balance sheet as on 31/3/23

HLAC . SLAC .

Consolidated Bal-Sheet

Equity share cap . 1300000 700000

Equity share cap 1300000
Res . & Surplus 200000 100000

Res &Surplus 248000
Liabilities 500000 200000

2000000 1000000 Minority Interest 160000

Liabilities 700000

PPE 1000000 70000
-

Inv . in 80% Share 2408000
---

of Sta . 50000 =

PPE 1700000
Current Assets 150000 300000

Goodwill 258000
2000000 1000000

Current Asht 150000

Prepare consolidated Balance sheet assuming
-shares acquired on 1/4/22 and 2408000

Bal . of Res & Surplus of SLd. was 10000 -



· 114122 31/3/23
D +

Acquire 80% BIS
Res- 4 Surplus : 40000 Res4Surrus : 100000

↓s
costof Control

Minority Interest (20%)
Costof Control (7)+32 - 2L) x 207 = 160000

costof Investments 850000
⑫&

Net Assets of SLAC - 140000- so t

o Sh - cap . (7LX20 +)
ASS- was 8000- (592000) Pre Profits (40000x20+)

She Cap- + Res & surplus POST AY .

PW
-

6
Sit 12000

(700 000 + 10000)X 80%
- (6000 X 20+)

-

[s 258000 160000
woodwill Cons - Res . & surplus -

- -

HL+d - 200500

+Post Ay . Profit 4800

(60000 X80
-

248000
-



If Acquisition on 17/22

114 3/3
N ↑ N

Y7
R & S 40, 000 R& S 100000

AOP : SID .

Pre POST

Resid surpers 40000 60000

Time Adjustment
--

-- -

Sox - 201 80+ 20%

Costof M .I. Holding M .I.

Control R&S



Working Notes :

Danalysis of Profits of SLtd. 2) Cost

ofControltile/Capitol Reserve)
PRE (Revenue)

(Capital) Pos es
. PALA)L It is calculated based on Net Assets of

P& LAJC V v subsidiary on the date of Obtaining control.

General Reserve ~ V cost of Investments XX

V - -

Adjustment Il I =

() Share of Holding Co . in

↓ Time Adjustment + - *
Net Assets of Subsidiary 10.

Adjustment V ~ - Share Capital (Is share)
Balance V ~ - Pre Profits (H's share) tre Goodwill

H MII MI I MI
-re Capital Reserve

* Net Assets Can also be Obtained basedOe

Assets & Liabilities Approach ·



3) Minority Interest (Also called as Non Controlling Interst
* Represents Share of Net Assets not owned by Parent/Holding on date of consolidation.
*
Shown in Cons . BIS after Shareholder funds before Non current Liabilities

↑ If Minority Interest is negative , it is transferred toConsolidated P& L
.

*

Minority Interest
Share Capitol XX

its XXPhPry
its XXPost Prof

Post Genera Mes . XX
-

XX
-

* can also be calculated based on AssetsLess Liabilities Method .

7) Consolidated General Resure/P&L

Holding Genera Res/POLAL XX

+ Post Genera Res . /PLA/C XX

(Share of Holding) -
XX
-



Adjustment 1 : Revaluation Adjustment

For the purpose of correctly calculating COS Control, AS-21 requires that Assets of+of
Subsidiary should be revalued on date of acquisition .

Step 1 : Profit/ Loss on Revaluation

Market value on Dateof Acquisition XX

() Book Value on Dateof Acquisition X
*

X

* Adjustment in Pre infits

Step 2 : Additional Depreciation/Saving in Depreciation
New Market Value X Rate X Post Period XX

() Depreciation already charged a
* Adjustment in PostPitsale(after Tir

Step 3 : Asset value in Consolidated B/S would change .



Example : 14/as 343/23 SL+d . B/s 31/3/23
I

Res & Surplus 20000 50000 P&M 135000

# ↳d . acquires 70% shares in SLtd . on 114/22 & On this Fumitore 42500

date P& M valued at 20000 & Fumiture at 40000

Dep . Rate : P&M : 10 %p. . .. Fumiture 15%p . a .

AOP : SAC .

Acq -

1/4 31/3 Pre Post
I I

Res surp 2000 30000

Plant& Mach B .V. = 150000/135000X 10 BV = 135
,

000 Enc -of P&M 50000--

M -V . = 200000

Deci Furn . (18000)
Furniture Additional Dep (5000
-

B .V . = 50000 (42500xo BV = 42500 Saving in Dep . 1500

M .V= 40000 -
-

60000 26508
- -

B/S
P &M : Additional Dep P&M : 135000 + 50,00 - 5000 = 180,000

(200000 X 10x) - 15000 = 5000

Fumiture : 42500 - 10000 + 1500 = 34000

Fumiture : Saving in Dep
(40000 x 154)

- 7500 =
1500



Adjustment 2 : Elimination of Common Owing (Contra Items)

Common Transactions means transactions entered into between HCo
.& Sco .

It
may be as follows :

a) B/R and B/P
b) Debtors andCreditors

Y Was Receivable/Las Payable
Treatment : Cancel Mutual Owing while preparing Consolidated B/S .

#+ does not affect AOP
, G/N/Cap . Res

, Minority Interest or Cons Resid surpers)

Note : If cetha cancellation amount is not same , it can be due to cash in Transit .
It should be reported asCash Equident .



Casel :
-

HL+C . Sl+d. ConsB/S

Creditors 50000 DeStA 800xe Creditor 30000 Destora 60000

(ince. 2000 find. 2000 (5000-2000) (80000 - 20000
to SLED) fron Md)

cases
:

Sta.HL+d . ConsB/S

B/P 55000 BIR 40000

B/P 45000 B/R 28000
(ince . 2000 find . / 2000 of (55000-12000)
to SLtd.)

H(+d) (4000-12000)
Std . discounted/endorsed bills amounting 8000.

Case 3 : HL+C . Sl+d. ConsB/S-

Creditors 50000 DeStA 800xe Creditor 33000 Destora 60000

(incs .
17000 find. 2000 (5000-1700] (80000- 20000

to SLED) fron Md) Cash in Transit 3000

↑Ld . paid 3000 to SLd . on 313 but not received by Sid .



Adjustment 3 : Unrealised Prfit/Stock Reserve

(ie. Profits in Transaction b/w H & S)

If Parent/Holding & Subsidiary has sale/Purchase transaction of which profit was
eared but certain stock remains resoed

,
then such profit is unrealised & it should

be eliminated in B/S , since it is notyet earned .

Y -

Sale by toS Sale by S to H

(Downstream) (upstream)

1 Cons . P&L XX

I Deduction in AOP from Post Profits
- unrealised & After Time Adjustment

xX] XX

Profit (Means Reduction from Holding Mieonlya
>

same2) Cons . B/s C)
STOCKs H XX

S XX

- URP XX

Unrealised Profit : Stock still held from X Profit rate
Inter Co . transaction (on Sales)



Adjustment 4 : Bonus Issue by subsidiary

Entry : Reserves & Surplus A/a-Dr

To Share Capital Alc

Y ~

Notyet adjusted Already Adjusted
(Unrecorded) (Recorded

1) Reduce AOP With Bonus Amount ↓ Add Back Post General Resure .

(fromPre Profits)
*

2)
(Bore Time Adjustment

2) Share Capitol /Bonus Issue) 3)>Share Capital alreadyIncreased .

(Effect in costof Control & Minority Interests

*Ey Pre notsufficient/does · specifies then post Profits
NOTE : If Bonus Issue alreadyAdjusted/Recorded :

Be careful in Calculationof Holding Ratio, take Numerator & Denominator after
Bonus Issue

.



Adjustment 5 : Dividend by subsidiary
① Treatment in AOP

* Add Back total dividend paid in Post Profits Before Time Adjustment
* Deductfrompre/post Profits based on sourceof Dividend

Final Dividend : Lastyear (Mainly Pres
Interim Dividend : During theyear (can be Pre; Post

, pre/post)

& Treatment of Divided Received by Holding

If Post Ag . Dividend : To be credited to PLAYC

I Pre Ag . Dividend : To be credited to Investment A/c

(Pre Acquisition means where source of Dividend is profits earned in Pr Aug . Period)

NOTE : Sometimes Pre Acquisition Dividend is credited to P&L A/C , then

Rectification : F wrong Entry Passed

V X Rectification Entry
BakA/-Dr Bank A/C-Dr PRLAK-Dr

To Investment All TO P&LA/C To Investment A/C

(Share of H Ltd . in Total Dividend

Effect : ①Costy Control & Consolidated P&L



Preparation of Consolidated P&L

1) Preparation as per Schedule #I

2) All items of Income & expenses should be consolidated on line by line basis
.

3) Elimination of Common Transactions

Eg : sale/purchase withingroup or

Income/Expense which is withingroup should be eliminated .

7) unrealised infit on stock should be adjusted along with Change in Inventories

5) Dividend bySubsidiary : Eliminate divided paid by Sta . & received by Hd

Note : FCAF sometimes assume that dividend is not included in sales & Other income

& Hd. & is therefore not deducted .
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From the following data, determine Minority interest on the date of acquisition and on the date 
of consolidation in each case: 

Case 
Subsidiary 
Company 

% 
shares 
owned 

Cost 

Date of acquisition 
01.01.2019 

Consolidation Date 
31.12.2019 

Share 
Capital 

Profit & 
Loss A/c 

Share 
Capital 

Profit & 
Loss A/c 

Case A X 90% 2,00,000 1,50,000 75,000 1,50,000 85,000 
Case B Y 75% 1,75,000 1,40,000 60,000 1,40,000 20,000 
Case C Z 70% 98,000 40,000 20,000 40,000 20,000 
Case D M 95% 75,000 60,000 35,000 60,000 55,000 
Case E N 100% 1,00,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 65,000 

 
Solution 

Minority Interest = Equity attributable to minorities 
Equity is the residual interest in the assets of an enterprise after deducting all its liabilities i.e. in 

this case, it should be equal to Share Capital + Profit & Loss A/c 
A = Share Capital as on 01.01.2019 

B = Profit & Loss Account Balance on 01.01.2019 
C = Share Capital as on 31.12.2019 
D = Profit & Loss Account Balance on 31.12.2019 

 

Case 
Subs. 

Com. 

% 

Shares 

owned 

Minority % 

shares owned 

{E} 

Minority interest as 

at date of acquisition 

[E]x [A+B] 

Minority interest as at 

date of consolidation 

[E]x [C+D] 

Case A X 90% 10% 22,500 23,500 

Case B Y 75% 25% 50,000 40,000 

Case C Z 70% 30% 18,000 18,000 

Case D M 95% 5% 4,750 5,750 

Case E N 100% Nil Nil Nil 

 
 
 
 
The following summarised Balance Sheets of H Ltd. and its subsidiary S Ltd. were prepared 
as on 31st March, 2020: 

 H Ltd. S Ltd. 
Equity & Liabilities   
Shareholders' Funds   
Equity Shares of ₹ 10 each, fully paid up 12,00,000 2,00,000 
Reserves and Surplus   
General Reserve 4,35,000 1,55,000 
Profit and Loss Account 2,80,000 65,000 
Current Liabilities   
Trade Payables 3,22,000 1,23,000 

 22,37,000 5,43,000 

AS 21: CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
Pg no._____  (Inter Nov 2019) (5 Marks) / RTP Nov 2020 /ICAI Study Material) Question 1 

 

Pg no._____  (Inter May 2018) (20 Marks) / (RTP Nov 2019) Question 2 
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Assets   
Non-Current Assets   
Property, Plant & Equipment   
Machinery 6,40,000 1,80,000 
Furniture 3,75,000 34,000 
Non-Current Investments   
Shares in S Ltd. - 16,000 shares @ ₹ 20 each 3,20,000 - 
Current Assets   
Inventories 2,68,000 62,000 
Trade Receivables 4,70,000 2,35,000 
Cash and Bank 1,64,000 32,000 

 22,37,000 5,43,000 
H Ltd. acquired the 80% shares of S Ltd. on 1st April, 2019. On the date of acquisition, General 
Reserve and Profit Loss Account of S Ltd. stood at ₹ 50,000 and ₹ 30,000 respectively.   
Machinery (book value ₹ 2,00,000) and Furniture (book value ₹ 40,000) of S Ltd. were revalued 
at ₹ 3,00,000 and ₹ 30,000 respectively on 1st April, 2019 for the purpose of fixing the price of 
its shares (rates of depreciation computed on the basis of useful lives : Machinery 10% and 
Furniture 15%). Trade Payables of H Ltd. includes ₹ 35,000 due to S Ltd. for goods supplied 
since the acquisition of the shares. These goods are charged at 10% above cost. The 
inventories of H Ltd. includes goods costing ₹ 55,000 purchased from S Ltd.  You are required 
to prepare Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 31st March, 2020. 
 

Solution 

Consolidated Balance Sheet of H Ltd. and its Subsidiary S Ltd. as at 31st March, 2020 

Particulars Note No. Amount 

I. Equity and Liabilities   

    (1) Shareholder's Funds   

         (a) Share Capital            1 12,00,000 

         (b) Reserves and Surplus 2 8,16,200 

    (2) Minority Interest  99,300 

    (3) Current Liabilities   

         (a) Trade Payables 3 4,10,000 

Total  25,25,500 

II. Assets   

     (1) Non-current assets   

         (a) Property, Plant & Equipment & Intangible Assets   

              (i) Property, Plant & Equipment 4 13,10,500 

              (ii) Intangible assets 5 24,000 

    (2) Current assets   

         (a) Inventories 6 3,25,000 

         (b) Trade Receivables 7 6,70,000 

         (c) Cash at Bank 8 1,96,000 

Total  25,25,500 

Notes to Accounts 

1 Share Capital    

 1,20,000 equity shares of ₹ 10 each   12,00,000 

2 Reserves and Surplus    

 General Reserves  4,35,000  

 Add: 80% share of S Ltd.’s post-acquisition 

reserves 

 84,000 5,19,000 
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 Profit and Loss Account  2,80,000  

 Add: 80% share of S Ltd.’s post-acquisition 
profits 

 17,200 2,97,200 

    8,16,200 

3 Trade Payables    

 H Ltd.  3,22,000  

 S Ltd.  1,23,000  

 Less: Mutual transaction  (35,000) 4,10,000 

4. Property, Plant & Equipment    

 Machinery    

 H Ltd.  6,40,000  

 S Ltd. 2,00,000   

 Add: Appreciation 1,00,000   

  3,00,000   

 Less: Depreciation (20,000+10,000) (30,000) 2,70,000 9,10,000 

 Furniture    

 H Ltd.  3,75,000  

 S Ltd. 40,000   

 Less: Decrease in value (10,000)   

  30,000   

 Less: Depreciation (6,000-1,500) (4,500) 25,500 4,00,500 

    13,10,500 

5. Intangible Assets    

 Goodwill   24,000 

6. Inventories    

 H Ltd.  2,68,000  

 S Ltd.  62,000 3,30,000 

 Less: Inventory reserve   (5,000) 

    3,25,000 

7. Trade Receivables    

 H Ltd.  4,70,000  

 S Ltd.  2,35,000  

 Less: Mutual transaction  (35,000) 6,70,000 

8. Cash and Bank    

 H Ltd.  1,64,000  

 S Ltd.  32,000 1,96,000 

 

Working Notes:  

1. Profit or loss on revaluation of assets in the books of S Ltd. and their book values as on 

1.4.2019 

Machinery  

Revaluation as on 1.4.2019 3,00,000 

Less: Book value as on 1.4.2019 (2,00,000) 

Profit on revaluation 1,00,000 

Furniture  

Revaluation as on 1.4.2019 30,000 

Less: Book value as on 1.4.2019 (40,000) 

Loss on revaluation (10,000) 
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2. Calculation of short/excess depreciation 

 Machinery Furniture 

Upward/ (Downward) Revaluation 1,00,000 (10,000) 

Rate of depreciation 10% 15% 

Difference [(short)/excess] (10,000) 1,500 

 

3. Analysis of reserves and profits of S Ltd. as on 31.03.2020 

 Pre-acquisition Post-acquisition 

  Gen reserve P&L 

General reserve as on 31.3.2020 50,000 1,05,000  

Profit and loss account as on 31.3.2020 30,000  35,000 

Upward Revaluation of machinery 1,00,000   

Downward Revaluation of Furniture (10,000)   

Short depreciation on machinery   (10,000) 

Excess depreciation on furniture   1,500 

Less: Unrealised Profit (55,000*10/110)   (5,000) 

 1,70,000 1,05,000 21,500 

 

4. Minority Interest 

Paid-up value of (2,00,000 x 20%) 40,000 

Add:  20% share of pre-acquisition profits [(20% of 1,70,000) 34,000 

          20% share of post-acquisition reserves 21,000 

          20% share of post-acquisition profit 4,300 

 99,300 

 

5. Cost of Control or Goodwill 

Cost of Investment  3,20,000 

Less: Paid-up value of 80% shares 1,60,000  

         80% share of pre-acquisition profits 1,36,000 (2,96,000) 

Cost of control or Goodwill  24,000 

 

 
 
 
On 31st March, 2021, the Balance Sheets of H Ltd. and its subsidiary S Ltd. stood as follows: 

Particulars Note 
No. 

H Ltd.  
(₹ in Lacs) 

S Ltd.  
(₹ in Lacs) 

Equity and Liabilities    
(1) Shareholder's Funds    

a) Share Capital 1 12,000 4,800 
b) Reserves and Surplus 2 5,499 3,000 

(2) Current Liabilities    
a) Trade payables 3 1,833 1,014 
b) Short term provisions 4 855 394 
c) Other current liabilities (Dividend payable)  1,200 - 

Total  21,387 9,208 
Assets    
(1) Non-current assets     

a) Property, Plant and Equipment  5 9,468 5,486 
b) Non-current Investments (Shares in S Ltd.)  3,000  

Pg no._____  (ICAI Study Material) Question 3 
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(2) Current assets    
a) Inventories  3,949 1,956 
b) Trade receivables 6 2,960 1,562 
c) Cash and cash equivalents  1,490 204 
d) Short term loans and advances 7 520  

Total  21,387 9,208 
Notes to Accounts 
  H Ltd. (₹ in lacs) S Ltd. (₹ in lacs) 
1 Share Capital   
 Authorized share capital:   
 Equity shares of ₹ 10 each, fully paid up  15,000 6,000 

 Issued and Subscribed:   
 Equity shares of ₹ 10 each, fully paid up 12,000 4,800 
2 Reserves and surplus   
 General Reserve 2,784 1,380 
 Profit and Loss Account:  2,715 1,620 
 Total 5,499 3,000 
3 Trade Payables   
 Creditors 1,461 854 
 Bills Payable 372 160 
  1,833 1,014 

4 Short term provisions   

 Provision for Taxation 855 394 
5 Property, plant and equipment   
 Land and Buildings  2,718 - 
 Plant and Machinery 4,905 4,900 
 Furniture and Fittings 1,845 586 
 Total 9,468 5,486 
6 Trade receivables   
 Debtors 2,600 1,363 
 Bills Receivable  360 199 
 Total 2,960 1,562 

7 Short term loans and advances   
 Sundry Advances 520 -- 

The following information is also provided to you: 
a. H Ltd. purchased 180 lakh shares in S Ltd. on 31st March, 2020 when the balances of 

General Reserve and Profit and Loss Account of S Ltd. stood at ₹ 3,000 lakh and ₹ 1,200 
lakh respectively. 

b. On 1st April, 2020, S Ltd. declared a dividend @ 20% for the year ended 31st March, 2020. 
H Ltd. credited the dividend received by it to its Profit and Loss Account. 

c. On 1st January, 2021, S Ltd. issued 3 fully paid-up bonus shares for every 5 shares held 
out of balances of its general reserve as on 31st March, 2020. 

d. On 31st March, 2021, all the bills payable in S Ltd.’s balance sheet were acceptances in 
favour of H Ltd. But on that date, H Ltd. held only ₹ 45 lakh of these acceptances in hand, 
the rest having been endorsed in favour of its trade payables. 

e. On 31st March, 2021, S Ltd.’s inventory included goods which it had purchased for ₹ 100 
lakh from H Ltd. which made a profit @ 25% on cost. 

Prepare Consolidated Balance Sheet of H Ltd. and its subsidiary S Ltd. as at 31st March, 2021. 
 



rDate of Ap : 313/20 or 1/4/20 14 III 51/3

- BYOU A4 : E&
↑ I I

S BOS 480L
Yo holding

= 1802
x
100 = 37 -5%

O- 180L =

so y
after

&
Bonus schem : 3for 5

BonusShows = 4802X 3 Existing = 5

Bord I 3
= 180L T

&

Beyon Bonus Sh . = 480-180 = 3002 -

-

Boussh-toholding to

%

-of holdin 180LX : 108

--

100 = 60%
Without BONUS = X

300L⑳

With Bonus I 288L 100 = 60%To X

480L



ASLA .

Ple POST
-

-

GR PAL

Gen-Res -

-

3000 (1620)
PALA/ 1200 420

- Bonus Issue 18

(180LX 10)
Dividend GOO

---- -

(3000LX 20%) , se 1020

- Bonus Issue (1800)
- Divided (600)

Too180 Logo
- -



Cost of Control Cons - Ger . Reserve
-

3000 HLtd . 2784
Cost of Investments

+ POST CR 108
-

- Ph Ap . Dividend (360) (180X 60%)
892(600LX 60) -

2648

Cons P&L
-

- Guyof Net As
HLD .

2715

Sh . Cepiral (4800 X 60+) (2880) - P Ap . Dir 60)

Profit (180 X 60x) (1080) 2355

CapitaRes.
& Post Profits 612

(1080 x 60%)

Minority Interest
- Unrealised Profit/SRO)

Share Cop . (4800 x 40+) 1920 (100 X25
Pr Profits (1800X 40%) 720 2947

Post &R (180 X Yo%) 72

POST P& L (1020 x 40+) o
-



Consolidated Balance Sheet

Note No . Amount (lkns
Equity & Liabilitie

1) Shareholder funds
1 12000

a) Share Capital
2 7159

4) Reserves & surpers
3/20

2) Minority Intenot

3) current libilities

a) Trade Pyols (1833 + 1014 - 45) 2802

6) Short term Provisions 1249

C) Other current lics .

1200

-

27530
TOTAL
-

Asse

↓ Not Current As set

9) PPE & Entangibl
Assets

i) PPE 14954



2)Current Askets URP

a) Investories (5905-20) 5885

b) Trade Recircles (4522-45) 4477

c) Con & Cesh Eg. 1694

d) Short term Loans & Advance 528

-

TOTAL 27530

Notes toAccounts --

I Share Capital
Authorised :

1500 Lean equity
shares of 10 each 15000

-

-

Issued 1 Subsc.

1200 Lakh equity share of 10 each /2000

2) Reso & Supers
2892

Cons . Gen . Rese

Conse PAL 2947

1320
Capital Res :

-

7/59
--
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A Ltd. acquired 60% shares of B Ltd. @ ₹ 20 per share. Following is the extract of Balance 
Sheet of B Ltd.: 

 ₹ 
10,00,000 Equity Shares of ₹ 10 each 1,00,00,000 
10% Debentures 10,00,000 
Trade Payables 55,00,000 
Property, Plant & Equipment 70,00,000 
Investments 45,00,000 
Current Assets 68,00,000 
Loans & Advances 22,00,000 

On the same day B Ltd. declared dividend at 20% and as agreed between both the companies 
Property, Plant and Equipment were to be depreciated @ 10% and investment to be taken at 
market value of ₹ 60,00,000. Calculate the Goodwill or Capital Reserve. 
 
Solution 

Since dividend is declared by B Ltd. on the date of acquisition itself, it would be out of the 

divisible profits of B Ltd. existing on the date of acquisition i.e., pre-acquisition profits from the 
perspective of A Ltd. Accordingly, as per AS 13, such pre-acquisition dividend would be reduced 

from the cost of investment. 

   

Property, Plant & Equipment 70,00,000  

Less: Value Written off (70 Lakhs * 10%) (7,00,000)  

 63,00,000  

Investments 60,00,000  

Current Assets 68,00,000  

Loans & Advances 22,00,000 2,13,00,000 

Less: 10% Debentures 10,00,000  

          Trade Payables 55,00,000 (65,00,000) 

Net Assets of B Ltd.  1,48,00,000 

Share of A Ltd. in Net Assets of B Ltd.: 60%  88,80,000 

Less: Cost of Investment in B Ltd. (60% stake):   

10,00,000 Equity Shares x 60% x 20 per shar 1,20,00,000  

Less: Pre-acquisition dividend: 6,00,000 shares x 2 (12,00,000) (1,08,00,000) 

Goodwill on Date of Acquisition  19,20,000 

 
 
GB Limited acquired 80% of equity shares of TB Limited on 1st April, 2016 at a cost of ₹ 
58,00,000 when TB Limited had an Equity share capital of ₹ 50,00,000 and Reserves and 
Surplus of ₹ 4,64,000. The following information is provided: 

Year Profit/(Loss) of TB Limited (₹) 
2016-17 (14,50,000) 
2017-18 (23,20,000) 

2018-19 (29,00,000) 
2019-20 (6,96,000) 
2020-21 1,90,000 
2021-22 6,80,000 
2022-23 12,70,000 

Pg no._____  (Inter Nov 2023) (15 Marks)  Question 5 

 

Pg no._____  (ICAI Study Material) Question 4 
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You are required to calculate the minority interests and cost of control at the end of each year 
for the purpose of consolidation. 
 
Solution 

Year Profit / (Loss) Minority 

Interest 

(20%) 

Additional 

Consolidated 

P & L (Dr.) Cr. 

Minority's Share of 

losses borne by GB 

Ltd. 

Cost of 

Control 

    ₹ Balance  

At the 

time of 
acquisition 

in 2016 

  

10,92,800 
(W.N.) 

-    

2016-17 (14,50,000) (2,90,000) (11,60,000)   14,28,800 

(W.N.) 

Balance  8,02,800     

2017-18 (23,20,000) (4,64,000) (18,56,000)   14,28,800 

Balance  3,38,800     

2018-19 (29,00,000) (5,80,000) (23,20,000)   14,28,800 

  (2,41,200)     

 Loss of minority 

borne by Holding Co. 

2,41,200 (2,41,200) 2,41,200 2,41,200  

Balance  Nil (25,61,200)    

2019-20 (6,96,000) (1,39,200) (5,56,800)   14,28,800 

 Loss of minority 
borne by Holding Co. 

1,39,200 (1,39,200) 1,39,200 3,80,400  

Balance  Nil (6,96,000)    

2020-21 1,90,000 38,000 1,52,000   14,28,800 

 Profit share adjusted 
against losses of 

minority absorbed by 
Holding Co. 

(38,000) 38,000 (38,000) 3,42,400  

Balance  Nil 1,90,000    

2021-22 6,80,000 1,36,000 5,44,000    

 Profit share adjusted 

against losses of 

minority absorbed by 
Holding Co. 

 

(1,36,000) 

 

1,36,000 

 

(1,36,000) 

 

2,06,400 

 

14,28,800 

Balance  Nil 6,80,000    

2022-23 12,70,000 2,54,000 10,16,000 (2,06,400) Nil 14,28,800 

  (2,06,400) 2,06,400    

Balance  47,600 12,22,400    

 

Working Note: 

Calculation of Minority interest and Cost of control on 1.4.2016 

  Share of Holding Co. Minority Interest 

 100% (₹) 80% (₹) 20% (₹) 

Share Capital 50,00,000 40,00,000 10,00,000 

Reserve 4,64,000 3,71,200 92,800 

  43,71,200 10,92,800 

Less: Cost of investment  (58,00,000)  

Goodwill  14,28,800  
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Consider the following summarized Balance Sheets of subsidiary MNT Ltd. 

Liabilities 2018-19 2019-20 
Share Capital   
Issued and subscribed  
7500 Equity Shares of ₹100 each 

 
7,50,000 

 
7,50,000 

Reserve and Surplus   
Revenue Reserve 2,14,000 5,05,000 
Securities Premium 72,000 2,07,000 
Current Liabilities and Provisions   
Trade Payables 2,90,000 2,46,000 
Bank Overdraft - 1,70,000 
Provision for Taxation 2,62,000 4,30,000 
 15,88,000 23,08,000 

Assets   
Property, Plant & Equipment (Cost) 9,20,000 9,20,000 
Less:  Accumulated Depreciation (1,70,000) (2,82,500) 
 7,50,000 6,37,500 
Investment at Cost - 5,30,000 
Current Assets   
Inventory 4,12,300 6,90,000 
Trade Receivable 2,95,000 3,43,000 
Prepaid expenses 78,000 65,000 
Cash at Bank 52,700 42,500 

 15,88,000 23,08,000 
Other Information:  
1) MNT Ltd. is a subsidiary of LTC Ltd. 
2) LTC Ltd. values inventory on FIFO basis, while MNT Ltd. used LIFO basis. To bring MNT Ltd.'s 

inventories values in line with those of LTC Ltd., its value of inventory is required to be 
reduced by ₹ 5,000 at the end of 2018-2019 and increased by ₹ 12,000 at the end of 2019-
2020. (Inventory of 2018-19 has been sold out during the year 2019-20)  

3) MNT Ltd. deducts 2% from Trade Receivables as a general provision against doubtful debts.  
4) Prepaid expenses in MNT Ltd. include Sales Promotion expenditure carried forward of ₹ 

25,000 in 2018-19 and ₹ 12,500 in 2019-20 being part of initial Sales Promotion expenditure 
of ₹37,500 in 2018-19, which is being written off over three years. Similar nature of Sales 
Promotion expenditure of LTC Ltd. has been fully written off in 2018-19. 

Restate the balance sheet of MNT Ltd. as on 31st March, 2020 after considering the above 
information for the purpose of consolidation. Such restatement is necessary to make the 
accounting policies adopted by LTC Ltd. and MNT Ltd. uniform. 
 
Solution 

Working Note: Adjusted revenue reserves of MNT Ltd.: 

Particulars Amount Amount 

Revenue reserves as given  5,05,000 

Add: Provision for doubtful debts [3,43,000 X 2/98) 7,000  

Add: Increase in value of inventory 12,000 19,000 

  5,24,000 

Less: Sales Promotion expenditure to be written off  (12,500) 

Adjusted revenue reserve  5,11,500 

Pg no._____  (Inter Nov 2019) (10 Marks) Question 6 
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                                 Restated Balance Sheet of MNT Ltd. as at 31st March, 2020 

Particulars Note No. Amount 

I. Equity and Liabilities   

       (1) Shareholder's Funds   

             (a) Share Capital  7,50,000 

             (b) Reserves and Surplus 1 7,18,500 

       (2) Current Liabilities   

            (a) Short term borrowings 2 1,70,000 

            (b) Trade Payables  2,46,000 

            (c) Short-term provision 3 4,30,000 

 Total  23,14,500 

II. Assets   

       (1) Non-current assets   

            (a) Property, Plant & Equipment & Intangible Assets   

i) Property, Plant & Equipment 4 6,37,500 

            (b) Non-current Investment  5,30,000 

      (2) Current assets   

           (a) Inventories (6,90,000 +12,000) 5 7,02,000 

           (b) Trade Receivables (343000/98X100)  3,50,000 

           (c) Cash & Cash Equivalents  42,500 

           (d) Other current assets 6 52,500 

 Total  23,14,500 

 

Notes to Accounts 

 Particulars  Amount 

1 Reserves and Surplus   

 Revenue Reserve (refer W.N.) 5,11,500  

 Securities Premium 2,07,000 7,18,500 

2 Short term borrowings   

 Bank overdraft  1,70,000 

3 Short-term provision   

 Provision for taxation  4,30,000 

4 Property, Plant and Equipment   

 Cost 9,20,000  

 Less: Depreciation to date (2,82,500) 6,37,500 

5 Inventories 6,90,000  

 Increase in value as per FIFO 12,000 7,02,000 

6 Other current assets   

 Prepaid expenses (After adjusting sales 

promotion expenses to be written off each year) 
(65,000 -12,500) 

 52,500 
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G Ltd. & its subsidiary K Ltd. give the following information for the year ended 31st March, 2023:
     (in crores) 

Particulars G Ltd.  ₹ K Ltd. ₹ 
Sales and other Income 3,000 750 
Increase in Inventory 750 100 
Raw material consumed 600 100 
Wages and Salaries 600 75 
Production expenses 100 50 
Administrative expenses 75 50 
Selling and Distribution expenses 100 25 
Interest 75 30 
Depreciation 75 30 

The following information is also given: 
a. G Ltd. sold goods of ₹ 200 crores to K Ltd. at cost plus 25%. (1/5th of such goods were still 

in inventory of K Ltd. at the end of the year) 
b. G Ltd. holds 75% of the Equity share capital of K Ltd. and the Equity share capital of K Ltd. 

is ₹ 800 crores on 01.04.2022 (date of acquisition of shares) 
c. Administrative expenses of K Ltd. include ₹ 5 crore paid to G Ltd. as consultancy fees. 

Also, selling and distribution expenses of G Ltd. include ₹ 20 crores paid to K. Ltd. as 
commission. 

Prepare a consolidated statement of Profit and Loss of G Ltd, with its subsidiary K Ltd. for the 
year ended 31st March, 2023. 
 

 

Solution 

Consolidated statement of profit and loss of G Ltd. and its subsidiary K Ltd.  
for the year ended on 31st March, 2023 

Particulars Note No. ₹ in Crores 
I. Revenue from operations 1 3,525 
II.  Total Income  3,525 
III. Expenses   
          Cost of material purchased/consumed 2 650 
          Changes of inventories of finished goods 3 (842) 
          Employee benefit expense 4 675 
          Finance cost 5 105 
          Depreciation and amortization expense 6 105 
          Other expenses 7 225 
          Total expenses  918 
IV. Profit before tax (II-III)  2,607 

 
Note: The information (i) given in the question states that G Ltd. sold goods of ₹ 200 crores to 
K Ltd. at cost plus 25%. In the above solution it has been considered that the amount of ₹ 200 
crores is sale value. Alternatively, ₹ 200 crores may be assumed as the cost of the goods 
sold. 
 

 

Pg no._____  (Inter May 2023) (15 Marks) 

  

Question 7 
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Notes to Accounts 
  ₹ Crores ₹ Crores 

1. Revenue from operations   
 Sales and other income   
 G Ltd. 3,000  
 K Ltd. 750  
  3,750  
 Less: Inter-company sales (200)  
 Consultancy fees received by G Ltd. from K Ltd. (5)  
 Commission received by K Ltd. from G Ltd. (20) 3,525 
2. Cost of material purchased/consumed   
 G Ltd. 600  
 K Ltd. 100  
  700  
 Less: Purchases by K Ltd. from G Ltd. (200) 500 
 Direct expenses (Production)   
 G Ltd. 100  
 K Ltd. 50 150 
   650 
3. Changes of inventories of finished goods   
 G Ltd. 750  
 K Ltd. 100  
  850  
 Less: Unrealized profits ₹ 40 crores × 25/125 (8) 842 
4. Employee benefits and expenses   
 Wages and salaries:   
 G Ltd. 600  
 K Ltd. 75 675 
5. Finance cost   
 Interest:   
 G Ltd. 75  
 K Ltd. 30 105 
6. Depreciation   
 G Ltd. 75  
 K Ltd. 30 105 
7. Other expenses   
 Administrative expenses   
 G Ltd. 75  
 K Ltd. 50  
  125  
 Less: Consultancy fees received by G Ltd. from K Ltd. (5) 120 
 Selling and distribution Expenses:   
 G Ltd. 100  
 K Ltd. 25  
  125  
 Less: Commission received by K Ltd. from G Ltd. (20) 105 
   225 

 



AS-23

Accounting for Investment in Associates in consolidated financial statements

A

Meaning of Associate Enterprise in which investor has significant influence&
which

is neither subsidiary or jointventureof Investor.

&

Significant Influence : Power to participate infinancial/or operating

policy decisionsof investe .
It may

begained by statute
, agreement

or share ownership (Assume 20 % or more unless otherwise proved)

10%LaExample :
11-1

98%

(a) Altd . (b) A Ltd. > BLtd .

7o% Alta .
is holding

10 · of BLd .

28% Y

BL+d - > CL+d -
Ald - has totalof direct & indirect (0%+ 11 .1.)214

in CLtd
,
So CLtd · is associateof ALtd.

Alta is holding
co · of Cled.

For CFS
, holding

will be 19 .9t (10% + 90%of 11%)

CLed. will be associate of BLtd.
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A Ltd. acquire 45% of B Ltd. shares on April 01, 2021, the price paid was ₹ 15,00,000. 
Following are the extracts of balance sheet of B Ltd. as of 1 April 2021:  

Paid up Equity Share Capital  ₹ 10,00,000 
Securities Premium   ₹ 1,00,000 
Reserve & Surplus   ₹ 5,00,000 

B Ltd. has reported net profits of ₹ 3,00,000 and paid dividends of ₹ 1,00,000 for the year ended 
31 March 2022. Calculate the amount at which the investment in B Ltd. should be shown in 
the consolidated balance sheet of A Ltd. as on March 31, 2022. 
 
 
 
A Ltd. acquired 40% share in B Ltd. on April 01, 2021 for ₹ 10 lacs. On that date  B Ltd. 
had 1,00,000 equity shares of ₹ 10 each fully paid and accumulated profits of ₹ 2,00,000. 
During the year 2021-2022, B Ltd. suffered a loss of ₹ 10,00,000; during 2022-2023 loss of ₹ 
12,50,000 and during 2023-2024 again a loss of ₹ 5,00,000.  
Show the extract of consolidated balance sheet of A Ltd. on all the four dates recording the 
above events.    
 
 
 
Bright Ltd. acquired 30% of East India Ltd. shares for ₹ 2,00,000 on 01-06-2021. By such an 
acquisition Bright can exercise significant influence over East India Ltd.  
During the financial year ending on 31-03-2021 East India earned profits ₹ 80,000 and 
declared a dividend of ₹ 50,000 on 12-08-2021. East India reported earnings of ₹ 3,00,000 for 
the financial year ending on 31-03-2022 (assume profits to accrue evenly) and declared 
dividend of ₹ 60,000 on 12-06-2022.  
Calculate the carrying amount of investment in: 
i. Separate financial statements of Bright Ltd. as on 31-03-2022. 
ii. Consolidated financial statements of Bright Ltd.; as on 31-03-2022. 
iii. What will be the carrying amount as on 30-06-2022 in consolidated financial statements? 

 
 
 
A Ltd. acquired 25% of shares in B Ltd. as on 31.3.2021 for ₹ 3 lakhs. The Balance Sheet 
of B Ltd. as on 31.3.2021 is given below: 

 ₹ 
Share Capital 5,00,000 
Reserves and Surplus 5,00,000 
 10,00,000 

Fixed Assets 5,00,000 
Investments 2,00,000 
Current Assets 3,00,000 

 10,00,000 
 
 

ACCOUNTING FOR INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES 

IN CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

 (ICAI Study Material) Question 1 

 

(ICAI Study Material) Question 2 

 

(ICAI Study Material) Question 3 

 

(ICAI Study Material) Question 4 
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During the year ended 31.3.2022 the following are the additional information available: 
a. A Ltd. received dividend from B Ltd., for the year ended 31.3.2021 at  40% from Reserves 
b. B Ltd., made a profit after tax of ₹ 7 lakhs for the year ended 31.3.2022. 
c. B Ltd., declared a dividend @ 50% for the year ended 31.3.2022 on         30.4.2022. 
A Ltd. is preparing Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance with AS 21 for its 
various subsidiaries. Calculate: 
a. Goodwill if any on acquisition of B Ltd.’s shares. 
b. How A Ltd., will reflect the value of investment in B Ltd., in Consolidated Financial 

Statements? 
c. How dividend received from B Ltd. will be shown in Consolidated Financial Statements? 
 



it = 3L1) 1)4/21 Prof - 31/3/22
I I

Dividend = IL

Acq : 45% shares

at 15
,

00
,

000

Computation of Goodwill/Capital Reserve CarryingAmountof Investments on 31/3/22

in Consolidated Financial statements

Cost
of Investments 1500

,

000

- 45% Share in Net Assets
Costof Investments

1500000

Share cap + Pr Prjits) x 75%
Since Goodwill of 78000)

(10) + 1 + 57) x 45% (720000) + Post payits share 135,000
-

Goodwill 780000 (300000 x 45%)
- - Divided Received (45000)

ICAI Presentation (100000 x 45% -
1590000

Share of Net Assets in Blad . 720000 -

+ Goodwill 780000
-

1500000

+ Post nits share 15000

- Dividend Received 50



2) 114191 21-22 22 - 23 23 - 24 31/3/24
V V I

31/3/22 31/5/23

B s (Extract) : Consolidated Financial statements

1/4/21 31/3/22 31/3/23 31/3/24

Investment in Associate 10
,

00
,

000 6
,
00
,
000 1

,
00
,
000 Nil

40 % shares of B(+d.' including Goodwill of 52000)

Computation of Goodwill/Capital Reserve
cost of Investment (117/21) = 1000000

Cost
of Investments 1000000

- share in Loss (102x 40%) = 40, 000)

- 40 % share in Net Assets Valve on 31/3/22 600000

Share cap + Pr Prjits) x 40% - Share in Loss (12 .50(x 40 +) (500000)
(10L+ 24 X 40 % (480000)

Value or 31/3/23 100000

Goodwill 520000
- share in Loss (5LX40 %) (200000)

Value on 31/3/27 < 100000
~/

Showe as N/L



3) Dividend 50000 Dividend 60,000

1(4) - 3/3/21 46 12/8 31/3/22 12/6
I D D I ↓I

Profit= 80000 (4/21 Aug : 30% 30/6/22
Cost = 2L

Profit =
300000

2) Value of Investments (31/3/22) : Separate

Cost of Investments = 200000 4) Value of Investments (30/6/22) : Consolidated

- PreAcg. Dividend = (15000) Financial statements

(50000 x 30 %) Value on 31/3/22 = 260000

155000 + Post Profits Share (3M) = =

- DividendShare (18000)6) Value of Investments (31/3/22) : Consolidated
(60000 x 30 %)

Financial statements

242000
Value ofTevestments 15000

- Post Profits share 75000

(30000 xpyx
30%

260000

Goodwill/capital Reserve cannot be computed so
not disclosed .



n)
31/3/21 Profit = 7000 31/3)22 50/4/22

I ↑ &

Acg : 25% shares
Dividend for 31/3/21 Dividend 50%

for 300000 240% 5LX 50%

= 5LX 40% = 2L = 2 . 50L

a) computation of Goodwill/Capital Reserve b) Valueof Investments
in CFS

Cost of Investments
300000 Cost of Investments 250000

- Pr Acg . Dividend (5000) + Shar in Post Profits (21-22)
175000

(200000 x 25%) (700000 X 25 %)
250000 425000

·

25% Share of Net Assets Inv-ie Associate A/c-Ar 175000

(Sh . cap
.+ PnPrits) X 25%

(250000)
To 2015 - P& L Alc 175000

(5(+ 57) x 25%
2) Dividend received (250000 x 25%) will

N/L
not be shown in CFS as received after
31/3/22 .
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Objective AS 24 is applicable to all discontinuing operations. 
 

The objective of AS 24 is to establish principles for reporting information 
about discontinuing operations, thereby enhancing the ability of users of 
financial statements to make projections of an enterprise's cash flows, 
earnings-generating capacity, and financial position by segregating 
information about discontinuing operations from information about 
continuing operations. 
 

Discontinuing 
Operation 

A discontinuing operation is a component of an enterprise: (PARA 3) 
a) That the enterprise, pursuant to a single plan, is: 
➢ Disposing of substantially in its entirety, such as by selling the 

component in a single transaction or by demerger or spin-off of 
ownership of the component to the enterprise's shareholders or 

➢ Disposing of piecemeal, such as by selling off the component's assets 
and settling its liabilities individually or 

➢ Terminating through abandonment and 
b) That represents a separate major line of business or geographical area 

of operations. 
c) That can be distinguished operationally and for financial reporting 

purposes. 
 

A component can be distinguished operationally and for financial reporting 
purposes - criterion (c) of the definition of a discontinuing operation - if all 
the following conditions are met:   
a. The operating assets & liabilities of the component can be directly 

attributed to it.  
b. Its revenue can be directly attributed to it.  
c. At least majority of its operating expenses can be directly attributed to it. 
 

Discontinuing operations are infrequent events, but this does not mean that 
all infrequent events are discontinuing operations. The fact that a disposal 
of a component of an enterprise is classified as a discontinuing operation 
under AS 24 does not, in itself, bring into question the enterprise's ability to 
continue as a going concern. 
 

Examples of activities that do not necessarily satisfy criterion(a)of definition, 
but that might do so in combination with other circumstances, include: 
❖ Gradual or evolutionary phasing out of a product line or class of service. 
❖ Discontinuing, even if relatively abruptly, several products within an 

ongoing line of business. 
❖ Shifting of some production or marketing activities for a particular line 

of business from one location to another and 
❖ Closing of a facility to achieve productivity improvements or other cost 

savings. 
An example in relation to consolidated financial statements is selling a 
subsidiary whose activities are similar to those of the parent or other 
subsidiaries. 

DISCONTINUING OPERATIONS 
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Initial 
Disclosure 

event 

Occurrence of one of the following, whichever occurs earlier: 
a) The enterprise has entered into a binding sale agreement for 

substantially all of assets attributable to the discontinuing operation or 
 

b) The enterprise's board of directors or similar governing body has both 
(i) approved a detailed, formal plan for the discontinuance and 
(ii) made an announcement of the plan. 
 

A detailed, formal plan for the discontinuance normally includes: 
➢ identification of the major assets to be disposed of; 
➢ the expected method of disposal; 
➢ the period expected to be required for completion of the disposal; 
➢ the principal locations affected; 
➢ the location, function, and approximate number of employees who 

will be compensated for terminating their services; and 
➢ the estimated proceeds or salvage to be realised by disposal. 

 

An enterprise’s board of directors or similar governing body is considered 
to have made the announcement of a detailed, formal plan for 
discontinuance, if it has announced the main features of the plan to those 
affected by it, such as, lenders, stock exchanges, trade payables, trade 
unions, etc. in a sufficiently specific manner so as to make the enterprise 
demonstrably committed to the discontinuance. 
 

Recognition 
and 

Measurement 

For recognising and measuring the effect of discontinuing operations, this 
AS does not provide any guidelines, but for the purpose the relevant 
Accounting Standards should be referred. 

Presentation 
& Disclosure 

(Initial 
Disclosure) 

(Inter Nov 2018 
/ Nov 2023)  
(5 Marks) 

An enterprise should include the following information relating to a 
discontinuing operation in its financial statements beginning with the 
financial statements for the period in which the initial disclosure event 
occurs: 
❖ A description of the discontinuing operation(s) 
❖ The business or geographical segment(s) in which it is reported as per 

AS 17 
❖ The date and nature of the initial disclosure event. 
❖ The date or period in which the discontinuance is expected to be 

completed if known or determinable 
❖ The carrying amounts, as of the balance sheet date, of the total assets to 

be disposed of and the total liabilities to be settled 
❖ The amounts of revenue and expenses in respect of the ordinary 

activities attributable to the discontinuing operation during the current 
financial reporting period 

❖ The amount of pre-tax profit or loss from ordinary activities attributable 
to the discontinuing operation during the current financial reporting 
period, and the income tax expense related thereto 

❖ The amounts of net cash flows attributable to the operating, investing, 
and financing activities of the discontinuing operation during the current 
financial reporting period 

Presentation 
of the above 
disclosures 

All the disclosures above should be presented in the notes to the financial 
statements except for amounts pertaining to pre-tax profit/loss of the 
discontinuing operation and the income tax expense thereon (second last 
above) which should be shown on the face of the statement of profit and 
loss. 
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Updating the 
disclosures 

In addition to these disclosures, an enterprise should include, in its financial 
statements, for periods subsequent to the one in which the initial disclosure 
event occurs, a description of any significant changes in the amount or 
timing of cash flows relating to the assets to be disposed or liabilities to be 
settled and the events causing those changes.   
 

The disclosures should continue in financial statements for periods up to 
and including the period in which the discontinuance is completed.   
 

Discontinuance is completed when the plan is substantially completed or 
abandoned, though full payments from the buyer(s) may not yet have been 
received. 
 

Any disclosures required by AS 24 should be presented separately for each 
discontinuing operation. 
 

Disclosure in 
interim 

financial 
reports 

(RTP Nov 2022) 

Disclosures in an interim financial report in respect of a discontinuing 
operation should be made in accordance with AS 25, ‘Interim Financial 
Reporting’, including:   
a. Any significant activities or events since the end of the most recent 

annual reporting period relating to a discontinuing operation and  
b. Any significant changes in the amount or timing of cash flows relating to 

the assets to be disposed or liabilities to be settled. 
 
Example 1: 
Co XY runs a famous chain of restaurants. It decides to sell its stake in one of the 
restaurant. This restaurant contributes around 5% of total revenue to the entire business. XY 
does not intend to sell any other restaurant as part of its strategy.  
 

In the above case, the sale of one restaurant out of the chain does not constitute disposal of 
business under a single plan, or a portion that represents a major line of business or 
geographical area of operations. Thus, it cannot be regarded as a discontinuing operation. 
 
Example 2: 
Group MN operates in various industries including Hotels, Airlines and Software through its 
subsidiaries. It has decided to sell its Airline business to be able to concentrate on other 
verticals. As a result, it has started to sell its aircrafts and paying off the associated 
liabilities. During the year, it has sold off 5 aircrafts out of the fleet of 50 aircrafts so far as 
part of the sale. The Airline business constitutes 25% of total group revenue.  
 

In the above case, Airline business may be considered as discontinuing operation. This is 
due to the fact that the assets are sold off as part of a single plan, and that the business 
represents a separate major line of business, and can be distinguished both operationally 
and for financial reporting purposes. 
 
Example 3: 
GH, a large car manufacturing company, decides to discontinue its manufacturing 
operations relating to the diesel cars production. It plans to restructure the business by 
revamping its existing operations, and starting new manufacturing process for manufacture 
and sale of electric vehicles.  
 

In the above example, it needs to be evaluated whether the restructuring is a result of 
continuing operations, or termination of existing operations, and accordingly it can be 
concluded whether it is a case of discontinuing operations or not. 
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Example 4: 
Entity RT operates in a single state and is trading in 3 products – X, Y and Z. Details with 
respect to the performance of each of the products are as under: 
Particulars X Y Z Total 
Sales 1,00,000 14,00,000 20,00,000 35,00,000 
Cost of Goods Sold (80,000) (10,80,000) (14,40,000) (26,00,000) 
Gross Margin 20,000 3,20,000 5,60,000 9,00,000 
Operational Expenses (15,000) (1,70,000) (3,60,000) (5,45,000) 
Profit before tax 5,000 1,50,000 2,00,000 3,55,000 

RT has decided to sell the business relating to Product Y to another entity. Since Product Y 
constitutes a major product, it may be considered as a discontinuing operations. 
 

 
 
A consumer goods producer has changed the product line as follows: 

 Dish Washing Bar 
(per month) 

Clothes Washing 
Bar (per month) 

January, 2021 – September, 2021 2,00,000 2,00,000 
October, 2021 – December, 2021 1,00,000 3,00,000 
January, 2022- March, 2022 0 4,00,000 

The company has enforced a gradual enforcement of change in product-line on the basis of 
an overall plan. The Board of Directors of the company has passed a resolution in March, 2022 
to this effect. The company follows calendar year as its accounting year. You are required to 
advise whether it should be treated as a discontinuing operation or not as per AS 24? 
 
Solution 
As per AS 24, a discontinuing operation is a component of an enterprise:  
a. That the enterprise, pursuant to a single plan, is:   

(i) Disposing of substantially in its entirety, such as by selling the component in a single 
transaction or by demerger or spin-off of ownership of the component to the 
enterprise's shareholders or  

(ii) Disposing of piecemeal, such as by selling off the component's assets and settling its 
liabilities individually or  

(iii) Terminating through abandonment and  
b. That represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations.  
c. That can be distinguished operationally and for financial reporting purposes.  
As per provisions of the standard, business enterprises frequently close facilities, abandon 
products or even product lines, and change the size of their work force in response to market 
forces. While those kinds of terminations generally are not, in themselves, discontinuing 
operations, they can occur in connection with a discontinuing operation. Examples of activities 
that do not necessarily satisfy criterion of discontinuing operation are gradual or evolutionary 
phasing out of a product line or class of service, discontinuing, even if relatively abruptly, 
several products within an ongoing line of business. 
In the given case, the company has enforced a gradual enforcement of change in product line 
and does not represent a separate major line of business and hence is not a discontinued 
operation. If it were a discontinuing operation, the initial disclosure event is the occurrence 
of one of the following, whichever occurs earlier: 
(i) the enterprise has entered into a binding sale agreement for substantially all of the assets 

attributable to the discontinuing operation; or  
(ii) the enterprises board of directors or similar governing body has both approved a detailed, 

formal plan for discontinuance and made an announcement of the plan.  

(RTP May 2018) / (RTP May 2023)  Question 1 
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Rohini Limited is in the business of manufacture of passenger cars and commercial vehicles. 
The Company is working on a strategic plan to close the production of passenger cars and to 
produce only commercial vehicles over the coming 5 years. However, no specific plans have 
been drawn up for sale of neither the division nor its assets. As part of its prospective plan it 
will reduce the production of passenger cars by 20% annually. It also plans to establish 
another new factory for the manufacture of commercial vehicles and transfer surplus 
employees in a phased manner. You are required to comment: 
a) If mere gradual phasing out in itself can be considered as a 'discontinuing operation' within 

the meaning of AS-24. 
b) If the Company passes a resolution to sell some of the assets in the passenger car division 

and also to transfer few other assets of the passenger car division to the new factory, does 
this trigger the application of AS-24? 

c) Would your answer to the above be different if the Company resolves to sell the assets of 
the passenger car division in a phased but time bound manner? 

 
Solution 
a) As per AS 24, a discontinuing operation is a component of an enterprise:  
a. That the enterprise, pursuant to a single plan, is:   

(iv) Disposing of substantially in its entirety, such as by selling the component in a single 
transaction or by demerger or spin-off of ownership of the component to the 
enterprise's shareholders or  

(v) Disposing of piecemeal, such as by selling off the component's assets and settling its 
liabilities individually or  

(vi) Terminating through abandonment and  
b. That represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations.  
c. That can be distinguished operationally and for financial reporting purposes.  
Mere gradual phasing is not considered as discontinuing operation as defined under AS 24, 
‘Discontinuing Operation’. Examples of activities that do not necessarily satisfy criterion of 
the definition, but that might do so in combination with other circumstances, include: 
1) Gradual or evolutionary phasing out of a product line or class of service. 
2) Shifting of some production or marketing activities for a particular line of business from 

one location to another and 
3) Closing of a facility to achieve productivity improvements or other cost savings. 
In this case, it cannot be considered as Discontinuing Operation as per AS-24 as the 
companies’ strategic plan has no final approval from the board through a resolution and there 
is no specific time bound activities like shifting of assets and employees. Moreover, the new 
segment i.e. commercial vehicle production line in a new factory has not started. 
 

b) No, the resolution is silent about stoppage of the Car segment in definite time period. 
Though, sale of some assets and some transfer proposal were passed through a 
resolution to the new factory, but the closure road map and new segment starting 
roadmap are missing. Hence, AS 24 will not be applicable and it cannot be considered as 
Discontinuing operations. 
 

c) Yes, phased and time bound program resolved in the board clearly indicates the closure of 
the passenger car segment in a definite time frame and will constitute a clear roadmap. 
Hence, this action will attract compliance of AS 24 and it will be considered as 
Discontinuing Operations as per AS-24. 

(Inter July 2021) (5 Marks) / (RTP May 2021) (Similar) / (ICAI Study Material) Question 2 

 





AS 25
Interim Financial Reporting

Meaning of Interim Financial Report : Financial Report containing either a complete set of

financial statements or setof condensedfinancial statements for an interio period .

Interim Period : Financial Reporting period shorter than fulfinancial year
.

Note : First yearof operations : Annual period may be shorter
thanfinancial year , still

it is not- I
considered as interim period .

Scope : Prescribes minimum contents of an IFR & requires that an enterprise whicheats to

prepare& present an IFR should comply with this As.
It is a kindof update on completefinancial statements of lastyear. This helps in

timely ,
better & reliable information for users .

Note : * AS25 does not mandate which enterprises should be required to present IFR
.

* Clause 33 & 41 of SEB/ Listing Requirements has no relationship with IFR . These clauses

With Interim Financial Results .

However, Recognition & Measurement principles laid down in AS25 applied in Clause33& 41 Reporting
Contents of IFR : Balance shelt

,
statement of P&L

,
Cash flow statement & Notes to Accounts

* It can be complete/full , just like annual statements or condensed .

* If such statements are complete consider Interim Period as complete period& prepare financial statements

* If such statements are condensed , then Head &Subheads should be as in most recent annual

financial statements



* Selected Notes toAccounts in condensed statements should beof significant crents & transactions like

- Gain/loss on saleof PPE
T- Decline i ratason

Trenton

- Impairment loss
- Related Party Transaction
-

Litigation settlement

* Statement of Policies
,
methods & estimatesif changed

* Disclosure of EPS
, Segment InformationN Disclosure of Business Combinations

X Nature & Amount of items affecting Assets
,
Liab ; Income , Ep . which is reusual

Periodfor which Interim Financial statements to be presented
Statement Current Penod Comparitive Period

Balance Sheet Last date of Interim Period (30/9/23) Year End PreviousYear (3/3/23)

Statementof Prigit & Loss For Interim Period
↑

For Previous Year Interim Period
# Year to Date Current Year ForYear to Date Previous Year

((/7/23 to 30/9/23) & (/4/23 to 30/9/23) (1/7/22 to 30/9/22) &(1/4/22 to 30/9/22)

Cash flow statement Year to date current year Year to Date Previous year .

(/4/23 to 30/9/23) (4/4/22 to 50/9/22)

Eg : FY23-24 Interin Period 1/7/23 to 30/9/23.



Recognition & Measurement

1) Income/Revenue : Which is seasonal , occasional etc. Should not be dected .

Recognise revenue as usual (when theyOccurs· Apply Accoral Concept .

2) Expenses : All expenses or losses , which are seasonal or infrequent cannot be deferred ,
unless appropriate . Recognise when incurred .

3) Change in Accounting Estimate : If any change during Interim period ,
its financial effect

should befully considered in Intern period .

change during Interin period ,
itsfinancial effect4) Change inAccounting Policy:- Intern seriod should be considered in the period .I

Provision

* Entity should make best estimate forprovision at the endof each Interin period .

* Provision for Tan : Calculate Weighted Average Tan Ratefor fullyear & apply this rate

for Interin Period .
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Intelligent Corporation (I-Corp.) is dealing in seasonal products. The quarterly sales pattern 
of the product is given below: 

Quarter I II III IV 
Ending 30th June 15% 30th September 15% 31st December 50% 31st March 20% 

 

For the First quarter ending 30th June, 2021, I-Corp. gives you the following information: 
 ₹ crores 

Sales 50 
Salary and other expenses 30 
Advertisement expenses (routine) 02 
Administrative and selling expenses 08 

While preparing interim financial report for the first quarter, ‘I-Corp.’ wants to defer ₹ 21 
crores expenditure to third quarter on the argument that third quarter is having more sales, 
therefore, third quarter should be debited by higher expenditure, considering the seasonal 
nature of business and that the expenditures are uniform throughout all quarters. 
Calculate the result of first quarter as per AS 25 and comment on the company’s view. 
 
Solution: 
Result of the first quarter ended 30th June, 2021 

 (₹ in crores) 
Turnover 50 
Add: Other Income Nil 
Total 50 
Less: Change in inventories                                              Nil  
Salaries and other cost                                                          30  
Administrative and selling expenses                 (8 + 2)           10 40 
Profit 10 

As per AS 25 on Interim Financial Reporting, the income and expense should be recognized 
when they are earned and incurred respectively. As per AS 25, the costs should be anticipated 
or deferred only when  

i. it is appropriate to anticipate that type of cost at the end of the financial year, and 
ii. costs are incurred unevenly during the financial year of an enterprise. 

Therefore, the argument given by I-Corp relating to deferment of ₹ 21 crores is not    tenable 
as expenditures are uniform throughout all quarters. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

INTERIM FINANCIAL REPORTING 

(ICAI Study Material) Question 1 
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Accountants of Poornima Ltd. showed a net profit of ₹ 7,20,000 for the third quarter   of 2021 
after incorporating the following: 

i. Bad debts of ₹ 40,000 incurred during the quarter. 50% of the bad debts have been 
deferred to the next quarter. 

ii. Extra ordinary loss of ₹ 35,000 incurred during the quarter has been fully recognized 
in this quarter. 

iii. Additional depreciation of ₹ 45,000 resulting from the change in the method of charge 
of depreciation assuming that ₹ 45,000 is the charge for the 3rd quarter only. 
Ascertain the correct quarterly income. 

Solution: 
In the above case, quarterly income has not been correctly stated. As per AS 25 “Interim 
Financial Reporting”, the quarterly income should be adjusted and restated as follows: 
Bad debts of ₹ 40,000 have been incurred during current quarter. Out of this, the company 
has deferred 50% (i.e.) ₹ 20,000 to the next quarter. Therefore, ₹ 20,000 should be deducted 
from ₹ 7,20,000.  
The treatment of extra-ordinary loss of ₹ 35,000 being recognized in same quarter is correct. 
Recognizing additional depreciation of ₹ 45,000 in the same quarter is in tune with AS 25. 
Hence no adjustments are required for these two items. 
Poornima Ltd should report quarterly income as ₹ 7,00,000 (₹ 7,20,000 – ₹ 20,000). 
 
 
 
 
On 30th June, 2021, Asmitha Ltd. incurred ₹ 2,00,000, net loss from disposal of a business 
segment. Also, on 31st July, 2021, the company paid ₹ 60,000 for property taxes assessed for 
the calendar year 2021. How the above transactions should be included in determination of 
net income of Asmitha Ltd. for the six months interim period ended on 30th September, 2021. 
 
Solution 
As per AS 25 “Interim Financial Reporting”, if an enterprise prepares and presents a complete 
set of financial statements in its interim financial report, the form and content of those 
statements should conform to the requirements as applicable to annual complete set of 
financial statements.  

As at 30th September, 2021, Asmitha Ltd would report the entire amount of ₹ 2,00,000 
as loss on the disposal of its business segment since the loss was incurred during interim 
period. A cost charged as an expense in an annual period should be allocated to interim 
periods on accrual basis.  

Since ₹ 60,000 Property tax payment relates to entire calendar year 2021, ₹ 30,000 
would be reported as an expense for six months ended on 30th September, 2021 while out of 
the remaining ₹ 30,000, ₹ 15,000 for January, 2021 to March, 2021 should be shown as payment 
of the outstanding amount of previous year and another ₹ 15,000 related to quarter October, 
2021 to December, 2021 would be reported as prepaid expenses. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

(ICAI Study Material) Question 2 

 

(ICAI Study Material) Question 3 
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Antarbarti Limited reported a Profit Before Tax (PBT) of ₹ 4 lakhs for the third quarter ending 
30-09-2021. On enquiry you observe the following. Give the treatment required under AS 25: 
a. Dividend income of ₹ 4 lakhs received during the quarter has been recognized to the extent 

of ₹ 1 lakh only. 
b. 80% of sales promotion expenses ₹ 15 lakhs incurred in the third quarter has been deferred 

to the fourth quarter as the sales in the last quarter is high. 
c. In the third quarter, the company changed depreciation method from WDV to SLM, which 

resulted in excess depreciation of ₹12 lakhs. The entire amount has been debited in the 
third quarter, though the share of the third quarter is only ₹ 3 lakhs. 

d. ₹ 2 lakhs extra-ordinary gain received in third quarter was allocated equally to the third 
and fourth quarter. 

e. Cumulative loss resulting from change in method of inventory valuation was recognized in 
the third quarter of ₹ 3 lakhs. Out of this loss ₹ 1 lakh relates to previous quarters. 

f. Sale of investment in the first quarter resulted in a gain of ₹ 20 lakhs. The company had 
apportioned this equally to the four quarters. 

Prepare the adjusted profit before tax for the third quarter. 
 
Solution 

Statement showing Adjusted Profit Before Tax for the third quarter 
 (₹ in lakhs) 
Profit before tax (as reported) 4 
Add: Dividend income ₹ (4-1) lakhs 3 
Excess depreciation charged in the 3rd quarter, due to change in method - 
Extra ordinary gain ₹ (2-1) lakhs 1 
Cumulative loss due to change in the method of inventory valuation should 
be applied retrospectively ₹ (3-2) lakhs 

1 

 9  
Less: Sales promotion expenses (80% of ₹ 15 lakhs) (12) 
Gain on sale of investment (occasional gain should not be deferred) (5) 
Adjusted Profit before tax for the third quarter (8) 

 
 
An enterprise reports quarterly, estimates an annual income of ₹ 10 lakhs. Assume tax rates 
on 1st ₹ 5,00,000 at 30% and on the balance income at 40%. The estimated quarterly income 
are ₹ 75,000, ₹ 2,50,000, ₹ 3,75,000 & ₹ 3,00,000.  Calculate the tax expense to be recognized 
in each quarter. 
 
 
The accounting year of X Ltd. ends on 30th September, 2021 and it makes its reports quarterly. 
However for the purpose of tax, year ends on 31st March every year. For the Accounting year 
from 1-10-2020 to 30-9-2021, the quarterly income is as under: 

1st quarter ending on 31st December, 2020 ₹ 200 crores 
2nd quarter ending on 31st March, 2021 ₹ 200 crores 
3rd quarter ending on 30th June, 2021 ₹ 200 crores 
4th quarter ending on 30th September, 2021 ₹ 200 crores 

Total ₹ 800 crores 
Average actual tax rate for the financial year ending on 31st March, 2021 is 20% and for 
financial year ending 31st March, 2022 is 30%. Calculate tax expense for each quarter. 

(ICAI Study Material) Question 4 

 

(ICAI Study Material) Question 5 

 

(ICAI Study Material) Question 6 

 



Solution5 :

Total estimated Income = 10 Lakhs

Total estimated Tax

0 -SLaks = SLakhs x 30% = 15,000

5 Laks - 10 Laks = Slakhs x 40% = 20000

350000

Average Tax Rate = 00 x 100 = 35

10

1st = 75000 x 35 % = 26250

2nd = 250000 x 35+ = 87500

3rd = 375000 x 35 7 = 131250

7th = 300000 x 35% = 105000

350000



Solution6 :

20% 30%

44/20 (10 / 31/3)21 30/6 50/9
I
200

A
200

↑
200

A
200

D

3'y312244/8)

1 10/20 to 31 12/20 = 200 . x 20%= 40CV

11/21 to 313/22 = 200 ( . X 20% = 40 CW.

/4/21 to 30/0/21 = 200 - * 30 % = 60 Cr -

60Cr

( 7/21 to 30/9/21 = 2000 · x 30% =
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Meaning of 

intangible 

asset- 

 

It is an  
→ Identifiable 
→ Non monetary asset 
→ Without any physical substance  
→ Held for economic benefits i.e. either for use in production or supply of 

goods or services, for rental to others or for administrative purposes. 
→ Under the control of entity  

 

Essential 

components 

❖ It must be identifiable i.e. the asset must be separable from other assets. 
❖ It must be controlled by the enterprise  
❖ Future economic benefits must be associated with an intangible asset  
 

Recognition 

of 

Intangible 

asset 

An intangible asset should be recognized if and only if  
→ It meets all the essential elements of an intangible assets  
→ It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the enterprise  
→ Cost of the asset can be measured reliably. 

 

MEASUREMENT OF INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
Procurement

/Separate 
Acquisition 

Cost of Intangible Assets include the following: 
Purchase price XX 
Add: Non-refundable taxes & duties XX 
Add: Directly attributable expenditure on making the asset 
ready for its intended use.* 

XX 

Less: Trade discount & rebates (XX) 

Cost of Asset XX 

*Example: Professional fees for legal services  
 

In Exchange 
For Another 

Asset or 
Shares/Other 

Securities 
 

Cost of Intangible Asset is  
➢ Fair Market Value (FMV) of Asset given / Securities issued  

                              or  
➢ Fair Market Value (FMV) of the Asset acquired  

whichever is more clearly evident.  
Note:  (a) FMV of the shares /securities to be considered & not Book value  
 (b) Such value is to be seen on the date of transaction  
 

Acquisition 
By Way Of 

Government 
Grant This may occur when a government transfers or allocates to an enterprise 

intangible assets such as airport landing rights, licences to operate radio 
or television stations, import licences, etc. 
 

Given at concessional rate  On the basis of their acquisition costs  
Given free of cost  Record at nominal value  

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
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*Development Phase:  

Amount Capitalised = Lower of Cost or Recoverable Amount 

Where Recoverable amount = Present value of Future Cash Flows 

→ If an enterprise cannot distinguish the research phase from the development phase to 
create an intangible asset, the expenditure should be treated as if it were incurred in the 
research phase only. 

→ Internally generated goodwill is not recognised as an asset because it is not an 
identifiable resource controlled by the enterprise that can be measured reliably at cost. 

 

Development 
phase 

(PARA 44) 

An intangible asset arising from development should be recognized if and 
only if an enterprise can demonstrate all of the following:   
→ Technical feasibility established  
→ Marketability proved  
→ Identification of cost incurred  
→ Realistic expectation that there will be sufficient future revenue to cover 

cost 
→ Intention to complete the asset and use or sell it. 

 
Cost of an 
Internally 
Generated 
Intangible 

Asset 

The following are not components of the cost of an internally generated 
intangible asset:   
➢ Selling, administrative & other general overhead expenditure unless this 

expenditure can be directly attributed to making the asset ready for use.  
➢ Clearly identified inefficiencies and initial operating losses incurred 

before an asset achieves planned performance and   
➢ Expenditure on training the staff to operate the asset 
 

AMORTISATION PERIOD (PARA 63) 
Basis of 

allocation 
Depreciable amount of an intangible asset should be allocated on a 
systematic basis over the best estimate of its useful life. 
 

Presumption 
as to the 

useful life 

It will not exceed 10 years from the date when the asset is available for use 
unless there is persuasive evidence that intangible asset has higher useful 
life. 

When should 
it commence? 

Amortisation should commence when asset is available for use. 

Notes Given the history of rapid changes in technology, computer software and 
other intangible asset is susceptible to technological obsolescence, it is 
likely that useful life of the software etc. will be much shorter, say 3-5 years  
 



CA NITIN GOEL                                                                                                                              AS 26 
 
 

 
 

AMORTISATION METHOD 
Which 

method to 
follow 

❖ The method used should reflect the pattern in which assets economic 
benefits are consumed by enterprise (In the ratio of future cash flows) 

❖ If that pattern cannot be determined reliably, the SLM should be used. 
 

REVIEW OF AMORTISATION PERIOD AND METHOD 

The amortisation period and method should be reviewed at least at each financial year end. 
If the expected useful life of the asset is significantly different from previous estimates, the 
amortisation period should be changed accordingly. If there has been a significant change 
in the expected pattern of economic benefits from the asset, the amortisation method 
should be changed to reflect the changed pattern.  
Such changes should be accounted for in accordance with AS 5 
 

DERECOGNITION OF INTANGIBLE ASSETS I.E. RETIREMENT & DISPOSAL 

When to 
Derecognize? 

Intangible asset should be derecognized (eliminated from balance sheet) 
→ on disposal   or  
→ when no future economic benefits are expected from its use & 

subsequent disposal. 
Treatment Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an intangible 

asset should be determined as the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and should be recognised 
as income or expense in the statement of profit and loss. 
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A Company acquired for its internal use a software on 01.03.2020 from U.K. for £ 1,50,000. The 
exchange rate on the date was as ₹ 100 per £. The seller allowed trade discount @ 2.5%. The 
other expenditures were:  
(i) Import Duty 10%  
(ii) Additional Import Duty 5%  
(iii) Entry Tax 2% (Recoverable later from tax department).  
(iv) Installation expenses ₹ 1,50,000.  
(v) Professional fees for clearance from customs ₹ 50,000.  
Compute the cost of software to be Capitalized as per relevant AS 
 
Solution 
Calculation of cost of software (intangible asset) acquired for internal use 

 Amount 
Purchase cost of the software (UK £) 1,50,000 
Less: Trade discount @ 2.5% (UK £) (3,750) 
 1,46,250 
Cost in ₹ (UK £1,46,250 x ₹ 100) 1,46,25,000 
Add: Import duty on cost @ 10% (₹) 14,62,500 
 1,60,87,500 
Add: Additional import duty @ 5% (₹) 8,04,375 
 1,68,91,875 
Add: Installation expenses (₹) 1,50,000 
Add: Professional fee for clearance from customs (₹) 50,000 
Cost of the software to be capitalized (₹) 1,70,91,875 

Note: Since entry tax has been mentioned as a recoverable / refundable tax, it is not included 
as part of the cost of the asset 
 

 
 
A company acquired a patent at a cost of ₹ 160 lakhs for a period of 5 years and the product 
life cycle is also 5 years. The company capitalized the cost and started amortising the asset 
at ₹ 16 lakhs per year based on the economic benefits derived from the product manufactured 
under the patent. After 2 years it was found that the product life cycle may continue for 
another 5 years from then (the patent is renewable and the company can get it renewed after 
5 years). The net cash flows from the product during these 5 years were expected to be ₹ 50 
lakhs, ₹ 30 lakhs, ₹ 60 lakhs, ₹ 70 lakhs and ₹ 40 lakhs. Find out the amortization cost of the 
patent for each of the years. 
 
Solution 
Company amortized ₹ 16,00,000 per annum for the first two years.  Hence, Amortization for 
the first two years (₹ 16,00,000 X 2)  = ₹ 32,00,000.    
Remaining carrying cost after two years  =₹ 1,60,00,000 – ₹ 32,00,000     = ₹ 1,28,00,000   
Since after two years it was found that the product life cycle may continue for another 5 years, 
hence the remaining carrying cost ₹128 lakhs will be amortized during next 5 years in the 
ratio of net cash arising from the sale of the products of Fast Limited. 
The amortization cost of the patents may be computed as follows: 
 

Pg no._____  (Inter Jan 2021) (5 Marks) Question 1 

 

Pg no._____  (Inter May 2018) (5 Marks) Question 2 
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Year Net cash flows Amortization Ratio Amortization Amount 
3 50,00,000 5 25,60,000 
4 30,00,000 3 15,36,000 
5 60,00,000 6 30,72,000 
6 70,00,000 7 35,84,000 
7 40,00,000 4 20,48,000 

Total 2,50,00,000 25 1,28,00,000 
 

 
 
Swift Limited acquired patent rights to manufacture Solar Roof Top Panels at a cost of ₹ 600 
lacs. The product life cycle has been estimated to be 5 years and the amortization was decided 
in the ratio of future cash flows which are estimated as under: 

Year 1 2 3 4 5 

Cash Flows (₹ in lacs) 300 300 300 150 150 

After 3rd year, it was estimated that the patents would have an estimated balance future life 
of 3 years and Swift Ltd. expected the estimated cash flow after 5th year to be ₹ 75 Lacs.  
Determine the amortization cost of the patent for each of the above years as per AS 26. 
 
Solution  
In the first three years, the patent cost will be amortized in the ratio of estimated future cash 
flows i.e. (300: 300: 300: 150: 150). The unamortized amount of the patent after third year will 
be ₹ 150 lakh (600-450) which will be amortized in the ratio of revised estimated future cash 
flows (150:150:75 or 2:2:1) in the fourth, fifth and sixth year. 

Amortization of cost of Patent as per AS 26 

Year 
Estimated future cash 

flow (₹ in lakhs) 
Amortization 

Ratio 
Amortized Amount 

(₹ in lakhs) 

1 300 .25 150 
2 300 .25 150 
3 300 .25 150 
4 150 .10 60 
5 150 .10 60 
6 75 .05 30 
  1.00 600 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Pg no._____  (Inter Nov 2020) (5 Marks) / (RTP Nov 2023) Question 3 
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Plymouth Ltd. is engaged in research on a new process design for its product. It had incurred 
₹ 10 lakh on research during first 5 months of the financial year 2019-20. The development of 
the process began on 1st September, 2019 and upto 31st March, 2020, a sum of ₹ 8 lakh was 
incurred as Development Phase Expenditure, which meets assets recognition criteria.   
From 1st April, 2020, the Company has implemented the new process design and it is likely 
that this will result in after tax saving of ₹ 2 lakh per annum for next five years.   
The cost of capital is 10%. The present value of annuity factor of ₹ 1 for 5 years @ 10% is 3.7908.   
Decide the treatment of Research and Development Cost of the project as per AS 26. 
 
 
Solution 
Research Expenditure – According to AS 26 ‘Intangible Assets’, the expenditure on research 
of new process design for its product ₹ 10 lakhs should be charged to Profit and Loss Account 
in the year in which it is incurred. It is presumed that the entire expenditure is incurred in the 
financial year 2019-20. Hence, it should be written off as an expense in that year itself. 
 
Cost of internally generated intangible asset – it is given that development phase expenditure 
amounting ₹ 8 lakhs incurred upto 31st March, 2020 meets asset recognition criteria. As per 
AS 26, for measurement of such internally generated intangible asset, fair value should be 
estimated by discounting estimated future net cash flows. 
 

Savings (after tax) from implementation of new design for next 5 years 2 Lakhs p.a. 
Company’s cost of capital 10% 
Annuity factor @ 10% for 5 years 3.7908 
Present value of net cash flows (₹ 2 lakhs x 3.7908) 7.582 Lakhs 

The cost of an internally generated intangible asset would be lower of cost value ₹ 8 lakhs or 
present value of future net cash flows ₹ 7.582 lakhs.  
Hence, cost of an internally generated intangible asset will be ₹ 7.582 lakhs. 
The difference of ₹ 0.418 lakhs (i.e. ₹ 8 lakhs – ₹ 7.582 lakhs) will be amortized by Plymouth 
for the financial year 2019-20. 
Amortisation - The company can amortize ₹ 7.582 lakhs over a period of five years by charging 
₹ 1.516 lakhs per annum from the financial year 2020-2021 onwards. 
 
 
 
 
Surgical Ltd, is developing a new production process of surgical equipment. During the 
financial year ended 31st March 2020 the total expenditure incurred on the process was ₹ 67 
lakhs. The production process met the criteria for recognition as an intangible asset on 1st 
January 2020. Expenditure incurred till this date was ₹ 35 lakhs. Further expenditure incurred 
on the process for the financial year ending 31st March 2021 ₹ 105 lakhs. As on 31st March 
2021, the recoverable amount of technique embodied in the process is estimated to be ₹ 89 
lakhs. This includes estimates of future cash outflows and inflows. Under the provisions of 
AS 26, you are required to ascertain:  

(i) The expenditure to be charged to Profit & Loss Account for year ended 31st March 2020;  
(ii) Carrying amount of the intangible asset as on 31st March 2020;  
(iii) Expenditure to be charged to Profit and Loss Account for the year ended 31st March 2021;  
(iv) Carrying amount of the intangible asset as on 31st March 2021. 

 

Pg no._____  (Inter Dec 2021) (5 Marks) Question 5 

 

Pg no._____  Question 4 
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Solution 
As per AS 26 ‘Intangible Assets’  

(i) Expenditure to be charged to Profit and Loss account for the year ended 31.03.2020 ₹ 35 
lakhs is recognized as an expense because the recognition criteria were not met until 
1stJanuary 2020. This expenditure will not form part of the cost of the production process 
recognized as an intangible asset in the balance sheet.  

 
(ii) Carrying value of intangible asset as on 31.03.2020  

At the end of financial year, on 31st March 2020, the production process will be 
recognized (i.e. carrying amount) as an intangible asset at a cost of ₹ 32 (67-35) lacs 
(expenditure incurred since the date the recognition criteria were met, i.e., from 1st 
January 2020).  

 
(iii) Expenditure to be charged to Profit and Loss account for the year ended 31.03.2021 

 (₹ in lacs) 
Carrying Amount as on 31.03.2020 32 
Expenditure during 2020 – 2021 105 
Book Value 137 
Recoverable Amount (89) 
Impairment loss 48 
₹ 48 lakhs to be charged to Profit and loss account for the year ending 31.03.2021 

(iv)                      Carrying value of intangible asset as on 31.03.2021 
 (₹ in lacs) 

Book Value 137 
Less: Impairment loss (48) 
Carrying amount as on 31.03.2021 89 

 

 
 
RC Ltd. is showing an intangible asset at ₹ 72 lakhs as on 31-3-20. This asset was acquired 
for ₹ 120 lakhs as on 01-04-14 and the same was used from that date. The company has been 
following the policy of amortization of the intangible assets over a period of 15 years, on 
straight line basis.   Comment on the accounting treatment of asset with reference to AS- 26 
and also give the necessary rectification journal entry. 
 
Solution 
As per AS 26 'Intangible Assets', the depreciable amount of an intangible asset should be 
allocated on systematic basis over the best estimate of its useful life. There is a rebuttable 
presumption that the useful life of an intangible asset will not exceed ten years from the date 
when the asset is available for use. The Company has been following the policy of 
amortization of the intangible asset over a period of 15 years on straight line basis. The period 
of 15 years is more than the maximum period of 10 years specified as per AS 26.    
 
Accordingly, the company would be required to restate the carrying amount of intangible 
asset as on 31.3.2020 at ₹ 48 lakhs i.e. ₹ 120 lakhs less ₹ 72 lakhs ( ₹ 120 Lakhs / 10 years x 6 
years = 72 Lakhs). The difference of ₹ 24 Lakhs (₹ 72 lakhs – ₹ 48 lakhs) will be adjusted 
against the opening balance of revenue reserve. The carrying amount of  ₹ 48 lakhs will be 
amortized over remaining 4 years by amortizing₹  12 lakhs per year.   
The necessary journal entry (for rectification) will be  

Pg no._____  Question 6 
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Revenue Reserves     Dr.  ₹ 24 Lakhs   
To Intangible Assets                            ₹ 24 Lakhs  

(Adjustment to reserves due to restatement of the carrying amount of intangible asset) 
 

 
 
As per provisions of AS-26, how would you deal to the following situations:  
(1) ₹ 23,00,000 paid by a manufacturing company to the legal advisor for defending the patent 

of a product is treated as a capital expenditure.  
(2) During the year 2018-19, a company spent ₹ 7,00,000 for publicity and research expenses 

on one of its new consumer product which was marketed in the same accounting year but 
proved to be a failure.  

(3) A company spent ₹ 25,00,000 in the past three years to develop a product, these expenses 
were charged to profit and loss account since they did not meet AS-26 criteria for 
capitalization. In the current year approval of the concerned authority has been received. 
The company wishes to capitalize ₹ 25,00,000 by disclosing it as a prior period item.  

(4) A company with a turnover of ₹ 200 crores and an annual advertising budget of  ₹ 
50,00,000 had taken up for the marketing of a new product by a company.  It was estimated 
that the company would have a turnover of ₹ 20 crore from the new product. The company 
had debited to its Profit & Loss Account the total expenditure of ₹ 50,00,000 incurred on 
extensive special initial advertisement campaign for the new product 
 

Solution 
As per AS 26 “Intangible Assets”, subsequent expenditure on an intangible asset after its 
purchase or its completion should be recognized as an expense when it is incurred unless 
a) it is probable that the expenditure will enable the asset to generate future economic 

benefits in excess of its originally assessed standard of performance; and  
b) expenditure can be measured and attributed to the asset reliably.  
If these conditions are met, the subsequent expenditure should be added to the cost of the 
intangible asset. 
 
(1) In the given case, the legal expenses to defend the patent of a product amounting ₹ 

23,00,000 should not be capitalized and be charged to Profit and Loss Statement.  
(2) The company is required to expense the entire amount of ₹ 7,00,000 in the Profit and Loss 

account for the year ended 31st March, 2019 because no benefit will arise in the future.  
(3) As per AS 26, expenditure on an intangible item that was initially recognized as an expense 

by a reporting enterprise in previous annual financial statements should not be recognized 
as part of the cost of an intangible asset at a later date. Thus the company cannot capitalize 
the amount of ₹ 25,00,000 and it should be recognized as expense   

(4) Expenditure of ₹ 50,00,000 on advertising and promotional activities should always be 
charged to Profit and Loss Statement. Hence, the company has done the correct treatment 
by debiting the sum of 50 lakhs to Profit and Loss Account. 

 

 

Pg no._____  (Inter Nov 2019) (5 Marks) / (RTP May 2023) Question 7 
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Mr. A, Mr. B and Mr. C entered into a joint venture to purchase a land, construct and 
sell flats. Mr. A purchased a land for ₹ 60,00,000 on 01.01.2021 and for the purpose he took 
loan from a bank for ₹ 50,00,000 @ 8% interest p.a. He also paid registering fees ₹ 60,000 
on the same day. Mr. B supplied the materials for ₹   4,50,000   from   his   godown   
and   further   he   purchased   the   materials   for ₹ 5,00,000 for the joint venture.  
Mr. C met all other expenses of advertising, labour and other incidental expenses which 
turnout to be ₹ 9,00,000.  
On 30.06.2021 each  of the venturer agreed to take away one flat each to be valued at ₹ 
10,00,000 each flat and rest were sold by them as follow: Mr. A for ₹ 40,00,000; 
Mr. B for ₹ 20,00,000 and Mr. C for ₹ 10,00,000. Loan was repaid on the same day by Mr. 
A along with the interest and net proceeds were shared by the partners equally.  
You are required to prepare the draft Consolidated Profit & Loss Account and Joint Venture 
Account in the books of each venturer. 
 
 
A Ltd., B Ltd. and C Ltd. decided to jointly construct a pipeline to transport the gas from 
one place to another that was manufactured by them. For the purpose following 
expenditure was incurred by them: Buildings ₹ 12,00,000 to be depreciated @ 5% p.a., 
Pipeline for ₹ 60,00,000 to be depreciated @ 15% p.a., computers and other electronics for ₹ 
3,00,000 to be depreciated @ 40% p.a. and various vehicles of ₹ 9,00,000 to be depreciated 
@ 20% p.a. 
They also decided to equally bear the total expenditure incurred on the maintenance of 
the pipeline that comes to ₹ 6,00,000 each year. 
You are required to show the consolidated balance sheet and the extract of Statement of 
Profit & Loss and Balance Sheet for each venturer. 

 

Solution: 

Consolidated Balance Sheet 
  Note (₹) 
I Equity and liabilities   
 Shareholders’ funds:   
 Share Capital 1 71,40,000 
   71,40,000 

II Assets   
 Non-current Assets   
 Property, Plant and Equipment: 2 71,40,000 

   71,40,000 
 
Notes to Accounts 

   (₹) 
1. Share capital    
                          A Ltd. 23,80,000  
                            B Ltd.  23,80,000  
                            C Ltd. 23,80,000 71,40,000 

FINANCIAL REPORTING OF INTEREST IN JOINT 

VENTURES  

  (ICAI Study Material) Question 1 

 

 (ICAI Study Material) Question 2 
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2. Property, Plant and Equipment Land & Building:   
                          A Ltd. 3,80,000  
              B Ltd.  3,80,000  
              C Ltd. 3,80,000 11,40,000 
 Plant & Machinery:   
              A Ltd. 17,00,000  
              B Ltd.  17,00,000  
              C Ltd. 17,00,000 51,00,000 
 Computers:   
                           A Ltd. 60,000  
              B Ltd.  60,000  
              C Ltd. 60,000 1,80,000 
 Vehicles:   
             A Ltd. 2,40,000  
              B Ltd.  2,40,000  
              C Ltd. 2,40,000 7,20,000 

 
In the Books of A Ltd. 

Extract of statement of Profit & Loss 
Particulars Note No. ₹ 

Depreciation and amortisation expense 1 4,20,000 
Other operating Expenses (Pipeline Expenses)  2,00,000 

 
Extract of Balance Sheet 

 Note No. ₹ 
Assets   
Non-current assets   
Property, Plant and Equipment 2 23,80,000 

 
Notes to Accounts 

  ₹ ₹ 
1. Depreciation and amortisation expense    
 Land & Building 20,000  

   Plant & Machinery  3,00,000  
   Computers  40,000  
   Vehicles 60,000 4,20,000 
2. Land & Building  4,00,000  
 Less: Depreciation  (20,000) 3,80,000 
 Plant & Machinery  20,00,000  
 Less: Depreciation  (3,00,000) 17,00,000 
 Computers 1,00,000  
 Less: Depreciation  (40,000) 60,000 
 Vehicles 3,00,000  
 Less: Depreciation (60,000) 2,40,000 
   23,80,000 

 
In the Books of B Ltd. & C Ltd.: Same Presentation as in case of A Ltd. 
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A Ltd. a UK based company entered into a joint venture with B Ltd. in India, wherein B Ltd. 
will import the goods manufactured by A Ltd. on account of joint venture and sell them in 
India. A Ltd. and B Ltd. agreed to share the expenses & revenues in the ratio of 5:4 
respectively whereas profits are distributed equally. A Ltd. invested 49% of total capital but 
has an equal share in all the assets and is equally liable for all the liabilities of the joint 
venture. Following is the trial balance of the joint venture at the end of the first year: 

Particulars Dr. (₹) Cr. (₹) 
Purchases 9,00,000  
Other Expenses 3,06,000  
Sales  13,05,000 
Property, Plant and Equipment 6,00,000  
Current Assets 2,00,000  
Unsecured Loans  2,00,000 
Current Liabilities  1,00,000 
Capital  4,01,000 

Closing inventory was valued at ₹ 1,00,000. 
You are required to prepare the Consolidated Financial Statement. 

 

Solution: 

Consolidated Profit & Loss Account 
Particulars Note No. (₹ ) 

Revenue from operations 1 13,05,000 
Total Revenue (A)  13,05,000 
Less: Expenses   
Purchases 2 9,00,000 
Other expenses 3 3,06,000 
Changes in inventories of finished goods 4 (1,00,000) 
Total Expenses (B)  11,06,000 
Profit Before Tax (A-B)  1,99,000 

 
Consolidated Balance Sheet 

  Note No. (₹) 
I Equity and liabilities   
 1.   Shareholders’ funds:   
 Share Capital 5 4,01,000 
 Reserves and Surplus 6 1,99,000 
 2.   Non-current liabilities   
 Long term borrowings 7 2,00,000 
 3.   Current Liabilities 8 1,00,000 
   9,00,000 
II Assets   
 Non-current Assets   
 Property, Plant and Equipment 9 6,00,000 
 Current Assets   
 Inventories 10 1,00,000 
 Other current assets 11 2,00,000 
   9,00,000 

 (ICAI Study Material) Question 3 
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Notes to Accounts 
 Particulars  (₹) 

1. Revenue from operations   
   Sales: 7,25,000  
      A Ltd.  5,80,000 13,05,000 
      B Ltd.   

2.  Purchases:   
      A Ltd.  5,00,000  
      B Ltd. 4,00,000 9,00,000 

3.  Other Expenses:   
      A Ltd.  1,70,000  
      B Ltd. 1,36,000 3,06,000 

4.  Closing Inventory:   
      A Ltd.  50,000  
      B Ltd. 50,000 1,00,000 

5.  Share Capital:   
      A Ltd.  1,96,490  
      B Ltd. 2,04,510 4,01,000 

6.  Reserve & Surplus:   
  Profit & Loss Account   
      A Ltd.  99,500  
      B Ltd. 99,500 1,99,000 

7.   Long term Borrowing:   
   Unsecured Loans   
      A Ltd.  1,00,000  
      B Ltd. 1,00,000 2,00,000 

8.  Current Liabilities:   
      A Ltd.  50,000  
      B Ltd. 50,000 1,00,000 

9.   Property, Plant & Equipment:   

      A Ltd.  3,00,000  
      B Ltd. 3,00,000 6,00,000 

10.   Inventories:   
      A Ltd.  50,000  
      B Ltd. 50,000 1,00,000 

11.   Other Current Assets:   
      A Ltd.  1,00,000  
      B Ltd. 1,00,000 2,00,000 
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A Ltd. entered into a joint venture with B Ltd. on 1:1 basis and a new company C Ltd. was 
formed for the same purpose and following is the balance sheet of all the three companies: 

Particulars A Ltd. B Ltd. C Ltd. 
Share Capital 10,00,000 7,50,000 5,00,000 
Reserve & Surplus 18,00,000 16,00,000 12,00,000 
Loans 3,00,000 4,00,000 2,00,000 
Current Liabilities 4,00,000 2,50,000 1,00,000 
Property, Plant and Equipment 30,50,000 26,25,000 19,50,000 
Investment in JV 2,50,000 2,50,000 - 

Current Assets 2,00,000 1,25,000 50,000 
Prepare the balance sheet of A Ltd. and B Ltd. under proportionate consolidation method. 
 
 
JVR Limited has made investments of ₹ 97.84 crores in equity shares of QSR Limited 
in pursuance of Joint Venture agreement till 2021-22 (i.e., more than 12 months). The 
investment has been made at par. QSR Limited has been in continuous losses for the last 
2 years. JVR Limited is willing to reassess the carrying amount of its investment in QSR 
Limited and wish to provide for diminution in value of investments. However, QSR Limited has 
a futuristic and profitable business plans and projection for the coming years. 
Discuss whether the contention of JVR Limited to bring down the carrying amount of 
investment in QSR Limited is in accordance with the Accounting Standard. 
 
Solution 
As per para 26 of AS 27 “Financial Reporting of Interests in Joint Ventures”, in a venturer’s 
separate financial statements, interest in a jointly controlled entity should be accounted for 
as an investment in accordance with AS 13 ‘Accounting for Investments’. 

As per para 17 of AS 13 “Accounting for Investments”, long-term investments are 
usually carried at cost. However, when there is a decline, other than temporary, in the value 
of a long-term investment, the carrying amount is reduced to recognize the decline. Indicators 
of the value of an investment are obtained by reference to its market value, the investee’s 
assets and results and the expected cash flows from the investment. The type and extent 
of the investor’s stake in the investee are also taken into account. However, where there is a 
decline, other than temporary, in the carrying amounts of long-term investments, the 
resultant reduction in the carrying amount is charged to the profit and loss statement. 

Since the investment was made in the year 2021-2022 i.e., more than a year, it is a 
long-term investment. In the given case, though the QSR Ltd. is in continuous losses for past 
2 years, yet it has a futuristic and profitable business plans and projections for the coming 
years. Here, one of the indicators i.e. ‘losses incurred to the company’ may lead to 
diminution in the value of the shares while the other indicator that ‘the company has positive 
expected cash flows from its business plans’ does not lead to decline in the value of shares. 
Considering both the facts, in case the expectation of profitable business plans and positive 
cash flows is based reliable presumptions (such as tender in favour of QSR Ltd., strong 
order book etc.), the decline will be regarded as temporary in nature and the investment 
in equity shares will continue to be carried at cost only. 
However, should the aforesaid presumptions be based on projections without reasonable 
evidence backing the claims, the decline could be regarded as non-temporary in nature in 
which case the write down of the carrying amount become necessary in line with AS 13, 
thereby implying the contention of QSR Ltd. to be correct. 

 (ICAI Study Material) Question 4 

 

 (ICAI Study Material) Question 5 

 



I
Draft Consolidated P&L A/L

T Expenses of A B Flats taken over

Purchase of Lord 6000000 A 1000000
/

RegistryJes 60000 B 1000000
/

Interest on Las 200000
C 1000000

(50(X 8 % x 6/12)
S S

By Saleof Flat

To Expenses of B
A 4000000

Materialfrom Godown 4
,

50
,

000 B
2000000

Material Purchased 500000
C/

1000000

To Expenses of C

Advertising, Labour
,

etc . 900000

TO infit (B-J. ) 1890000
- /

A 630000
B 63000

C 630000
10000000 10000000



BOOKS of A

Joint Venture A/2

To Barka/(Purch of 6000000 1000 000
, & /Land) I
-

I By Land & Building Alc

I
-

To Barn A/ (Fees) 60000
B Bank Al 40 00000

I /

To Bank A (Interest) 200000 By Bank Ak (From B) 1420000

To shareof Profit 630000 By Bank Alc (From C) 470000

- -

Books of B
Joint Venture A/2

To Purchase/ SACK 450000 By Land & Building A/c 1000000
-

To Bann All 500000
By Bank Al 2000000

To shareof Profit I 650000 I I S
To Ben Al (B.J) 20000 -

-
-

BooksI C

Joint Venture Als

To Bank All (Expenses 900
,

000 By Land & Building A/2 1000000

To shary Profit 63000
By Bank Al 1000000

To Bark Alc (B.J. / ↑ 7000
--

- -
-



2) Depreciation
Consolidated 1200000 x 5 % = 60000

Expenses 6000000 x 15% = 900000

*

Dep & Amortisation 1260000 300000 X 40 % = 120000

Other Expenses
600000 900000 X 20 % = 18000
-

1860000 1260000
-

BalanceSheet

9000000Share Capital
Res . & Surplus (1860000

7140000

PPE - 140000



When XLtd . prepares
X L+d .

Standalone Consolidated

Financial statements Financial statements

Inv in 70 % shars of A Ltd . AS 13 AS 21

(Full consolidations

Invin 40 % shares of BLtd. AS 13 A S 23

(Equity Method)
Inv in 5% Sham of (Hd .

As 13
AS 13

Invie Joint Venture A S13 A S 27

(XL+d . + Y(+d. = 2(+d) (Proportionate consolidation

Method)



4)
For the purpose of consolidation

BLAC
AL+d .

PPEA/C-DV 975000 975000

Current Assets A/C-Du 25000 25000

ToCorrect Liab . A/2
50000 50000

100000
To Loans A/C

100000

* 600 000 600000
To Res & Surplus

250000 250000
To Invin J

. V .

*

Incomes - Expense



Balance Sheetof Alta . (Consolidated)
Note No . Amount

Equity & Liabilities

↓ Shareholder foeds
a) Share Capital

10
,

00
,

000

b) Reserves & Surplus
↓ 2400000

S <

2) Not current liabilities

a) Long Term Borrowings
I 400000

3)Current Liabilities 3 450 000

TOTAL 4250000

Assets

1) Not Cont Assets

a PPE Intangible Assets

i) PPE M 4025000

2) Current Assets 5 225000

TOTAL 4250000



Notes to Accounts

1) Reserves & Surplus
1800000

AL+d -

CL + d.
600000 240000x
,

--

2) Long Term Borrowings
A Ltd - 300000

CL+C -
100000 400000
-

3) Current Liabilities

Al+d . 400000

CL+d - 50000 450000
--

4) PPE

Al+d . 3050000

CL+d . 975000 4025000
-

5) CurrentAstets

Al+d - 200000

CL+d - 25000 225000
-



Balance Sheetof BLtd . (Consolidated)
Note No . Amount

Equity & Liabilities

↓ Shareholder foeds
750.000

a) Share Capital
↓ 2200000

b) Reserves & Surplus

2) Not current liabilities

a) Long Term Borrowings
I 500 000

3)Current Liabilities 3
300000

TOTAL 3750000
/ /

Assets

1) Not Cont Assets

a PPE Intangible Assets

i) PPE M 3600000

2) Current Assets 5 150000

TOTAL
3750000
/ <



Notes to Accounts

1) Reserves & Surplus
BL+d - 1600000

600000 2200000
CL + d.

--

2) Long Term Borrowings
BLtd . 400000

CL+C -
100000 500000
-

3) Current Liabilities

BL+d -

250000

CL+d - 50000 300 000
--

4) PPE

BL+d . 2625 000

CL+d . 975000 3600000
-

5) Current Assets

B(+d - 12500

CL+d - 25000 150000
-
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Impairment of Assets

Scope : Not applicable to assets covered by AS2
,
AS7
,
As 13 & As &C .

Applicable to PPE & Intangible Assets

Impairmentloss

Y X

Meaning AccountingTreatment

Impairment loss = Carrying Recoverable & Entry '

-

-

Revaluation Reserve /- DrArrowit Amount D
Impairment Loss All-bu

V Y To Accumulated Impairment Loss All
Book Value after Higher of

Depreciation & Amortisation
Net selling Price

* 2) P&LAK-Dr
at

year
end

Or
To Impairment Los Ala

(This is after Revaluation
value in use

*
· BalanceSheetS

Asset (COST) XXX

* Netselling Price = - ACC . Depreciation (xXx)

Expected Sale Price
=>

Estimated selling Expenses - Acc Impairment Loss
(Enc . Tan & Finance CostsOf Asset C XX

(Eg. commission)
·

Depreciation offuture periods willget reduced

Based on Price in Active market
,

due to Impairment loss

⑳ Income Tax does not allow this
,
hence create

Binding sale Price or management bestjudgment Deferred Tak Assets on it.



* Value in use

· Present Value of Net Cash Inflows from continuous useof asset& its residual value

Gross Inflows - outflows togenerate Inflows
· such net cash flows should be reasonable & supportable to assumptions of management .
& Cash flows should be taken for manimum 5years ,

unless justified
· Generally most recent management forecasts& budgets are usedfor calculation of net Inflow
·

outflows include repairs for which management is committed .
el Discount Rate should be Pre Tan CAPM .

Indicators of Impairment Loss

- V

Enternal Internal

* Low market capitalisation * Poor Economic Performance by Asset

↑ Market Price of asset has declined substantially
* Physical Damage to asset

* unfavourable market conditions against entity in

regard to demand
, technology , Gort policies, etc. * Company has plansof Restructuring or

Discontinuation.
* Market Interest rates have increased substantially .

Note : If Recoverable Amount > Carrying Amount
, ignore the difference & asset shown at same book value

: Review Usul life , residual value or depreciation method as per A510.



Cash Generating Unit (CGU)
smallest identifiable group of assets working together to enerate cash flows that areI

largely independent of cash inflows from other assets orgroup .

# asset is capableofgenerating cashflows on independent basis , then such single asset is car
else identify the lowest aggregation of assets thatgenerate independent cash inflows .

Carrying Amount of CAU : Summation of carrying amountfallassetgruedunder c
e

Includes liability only if

Impairment loss for CGU :
↑ First to Goodwill allocated to CaU &
* Then to other assets on prorate basis based on carrying amount

of each asset in CaU .

Goodwill : Does notgenerate cash flows independently from other assets orgroupof assets
thenyore recoverable amount cannot be determined

Casel : If Gr can be allocated on reasonable & Consistent basis : Apply Bottom up test only
Case 2 : If Alw cannot be allocated on reasonable & Consistent basis : Apply both Bottom up Test &

Top Down Test
.

Corporate Assets : Administrative assets likeNo Building, EDP Equipment, Research Unit, et .

↓
Same Treatment Like Goodwine.



Reversal of Impairment Loss

# Indicators due to which Impairment loss recognised earlier, no longer exist then Impairment
loss tose reversed.

↑ Reversal is Lowerof following :

A Recoverable Anti- carrying Amt . Or
* Impairment loss recorded earlier

Note : Goodwill written off can be reversed only i certain conditions are met .

DisclosureRequirements :

* Impairment loss recorded in P&LA/C
* Impairment loss adjusted with Revaluation Reserve
A Segments affected byImpairment
* Indicator used for calculations
* Assumptions applied in calculation of Recoverable Anot.

* CaU & its identification
↑ Impairment loss reversed during year.
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Venus Ltd. has a fixed asset, which is carried in the Balance Sheet on 31.3.2021 at ₹ 500 
lakhs.   As at that date the value in use is ₹ 400 lakhs and the net selling price is ₹ 375 
lakhs. From the above data: 
a. Calculate impairment loss. 
b. Prepare journal entries for adjustment of impairment loss. 
c. Show, how impairment loss will be shown in the Balance Sheet. 
 
Solution: 
a. Recoverable amount is higher of value in use 400 lakhs & net selling price  375 lakhs 

Recoverable amount = ₹ 400 lakhs 

Impairment loss = Carried Amount – Recoverable amount =  

₹ 500 lakhs – ₹ 400 lakhs = ₹ 100 lakhs. 

 

b.        Journal Entries     (₹ in lakhs) 
 Particulars Dr.  Cr.  

(i) Impairment loss account Dr. 100  
      To Provision for Accumulated    Impairment Loss Account  100 
 (Being the entry for accounting     impairment loss)   
(ii) Profit and loss account Dr. 100  
       To Impairment loss  100 
 (Being the entry to transfer impairment loss to P&L A/c)   

c.         Balance Sheet of Venus Ltd. as on 31.3.2021 
 (₹ in lakhs) 
Fixed Asset  
Asset less depreciation 500 
Less: Impairment loss (100) 
 400 

 
 
 
 
Ergo Industries Ltd. gives the following estimates of cash flows relating to Property, Plant 
and equipment on 31-12-2021. The discount rate is 15%. 

Year Cash Flow (₹ in lakhs) 
2022 4000 
2023 6000 
2024 6000 
2025 8000 
2026 4000 
Residual value at the end of 2026 ₹ 1000 lakhs 
Property, Plant and Equipment purchased on 1-1-2019 ₹ 40,000 lakhs 
Useful life 8 years 
Net selling price on 31-12-2021 ₹ 20,000 lakhs 

IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS 

Pg no._____   (ICAI Study Material) Question 2 
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Calculate on 31-12-2021: 
(a) Carrying amount at the end of 2021 
(b) Value in use on 31-12-2021 
(c) Recoverable amount on 31-12-2021 
(d) Impairment loss to be recognized for the year ended 31-12-2021 
(e) Revised carrying amount 
(f) Depreciation charge for 2022. 

 
 
 
 
 
From the following details of an asset 
a. Find out impairment loss 
b. Treatment of impairment loss 
c. Current year depreciation  
Particulars of asset: 
Cost of asset ₹ 56 lakhs 

Useful life period 10 years 
Salvage value Nil 
Current carrying value ₹ 27.30 lakhs 
Useful life remaining 3 years 
Recoverable amount ₹ 12 lakhs 
Upward revaluation done in last year ₹ 14 lakhs 

 
Solution: 

Impairment Loss and its treatment ₹ 
Current carrying amount (including revaluation amount of ₹ 14 lakhs) 27,30,000 
Less: Current recoverable amount (12,00,000) 
Impairment Loss 15,30,000 
Impairment loss charged to revaluation reserve 14,00,000 
Impairment loss charged to profit and loss account 1,30,000 

 
After the recognition of an impairment loss, the depreciation (amortization) charge for the 
asset should be adjusted in future periods to allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount, 
less its residual value (if any), on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life. 
In the given case, the carrying amount of the asset will be reduced to ₹ 12,00,000 
after impairment. This amount is required to be depreciated over remaining useful life of 3 
years (including current year). Therefore, the depreciation for the current year will be ₹ 
4,00,000. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Pg no._____   (ICAI Study Material) Question 3 
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G Ltd., acquired a machine on 1st April, 2020 for ₹ 7 crore that had an estimated useful life 
of 7 years.   The machine is depreciated on straight line basis and does not carry any 
residual value. On 1st April, 2024, the carrying value of the machine was reassessed at ₹ 5.10 
crore and the surplus arising out of the revaluation being credited to revaluation reserve. For 
the year ended March, 2026, conditions indicating an impairment of the machine existed 
and the amount recoverable ascertained to be only ₹ 79 lakhs.  
You are required to calculate the loss on impairment of the machine and show how this 
loss is to be treated in the books of G Ltd. G Ltd., had followed the policy of writing down 
the revaluation surplus by the increased charge of depreciation resulting from the 
revaluation. 
 
 
 
 
X Ltd. purchased a Property, Plant and Equipment four years ago for ₹ 150 lakhs and 
depreciates it at 10% p.a. on straight line method. At the end of the fourth year, it has 
revalued the asset at ₹ 75 lakhs and has written off the loss on revaluation to the profit 
and loss account. However, on the date of revaluation, the market price is ₹ 67.50 lakhs and 
expected disposal costs are ₹ 3 lakhs.  
What will be the treatment in respect of impairment loss on the basis that fair value for 
revaluation purpose is determined by market value and the value in use is estimated at ₹ 
60 lakhs? 
 
Solution: 
Treatment of Impairment Loss 
As per AS 28 “Impairment of assets”, if the recoverable amount (higher of net selling price 
and its value in use) of an asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of 
the asset should be reduced to its recoverable amount. In the given case, net selling price is 
₹ 64.50 lakhs (₹ 67.50 lakhs – ₹ 3 lakhs) and value in use is ₹ 60 lakhs. Therefore, recoverable 
amount will be ₹ 64.50 lakhs.  
Impairment loss will be calculated as ₹ 10.50 lakhs [₹ 75 lakhs (Carrying Amount after 
revaluation - Refer Working Note) less ₹ 64.50 lakhs (Recoverable Amount)]. 
Thus impairment loss of ₹ 10.50 lakhs should be recognised as an expense in the Statement 
of Profit and Loss immediately since there was downward revaluation of asset which was 
already charged to Statement of Profit and Loss. 
 
Working Note: 
Calculation of carrying amount of the Property, Plant and Equipment at the end of the fourth 
year on revaluation 
 (₹ in lakhs) 
Purchase price of a Property, Plant and Equipment 150.00 
Less: Depreciation for four years [(150 lakhs / 10 years) x 4 years] (60.00) 

Carrying value at the end of fourth year 90.00 
Less: Downward revaluation charged to profit and loss account (15.00) 
Revalued carrying amount 75.00 

 
 
 

Pg no._____   (ICAI Study Material) Question 4 
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An asset does not meet the requirements of environment laws which have been recently 
enacted. The asset has to be destroyed as per the law.   The asset is carried in the Balance 
Sheet at the year end at ₹ 6,00,000. The estimated cost of destroying the asset is ₹ 70,000. 
How is the asset to be accounted for? 
 

Solution: 
 Net Selling Price =  Nil – 70,000  =  (70,000) 
 Value in Use        =  Nil 

Recoverable Amount = Higher of Above   =   Nil 
Impairment Loss  =  Carrying Amount – Recoverable Amount = 6,00,000 – Nil = 6,00,000 
 
Therefore, asset is to be fully impaired and impairment loss of ₹ 6,00,000 has to be recognized 
as an expense immediately in the statement of Profit and Loss as per AS 28. 
 
Further, as per AS 28, When the amount estimated for an impairment loss is greater than 
the carrying amount of the asset to which it relates, an enterprise should recognise a liability 
if, and only if, that is required by another Accounting Standard. Hence, the entity should 
recognize liability for cost of disposal of ₹ 70,000 as per AS 10 & 29. 
 

Net selling price is the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset in an arm’s length transaction 

between knowledgeable, willing parties, less the costs of disposal. In the given case, Net Selling 

Price = Selling price – Cost of disposal = Nil – ₹ 70,000 = (₹ 70,000) 
 

**Value in use is the present value of estimated future cash flows expected to arise from the 

continuing use of an asset and from its disposal at the end of its useful life. In the given case, 
value in use is nil. 

 
 
 
Good Drugs and Pharmaceuticals Ltd. acquired a sachet filling machine on 1st April, 2021 
for ₹ 60 lakhs. The machine was expected to have a productive life of 6 years. At the end of 
financial year 2021-2022 the carrying amount was ₹ 41 lakhs. A short circuit occurred in this 
financial year but luckily the machine did not get badly damaged and was still in working 
order at the close of the financial year. The machine was expected to fetch ₹ 36 lakhs, 
if sold in the market. The machine by itself is not capable of generating cash flows. However, 
the smallest group of assets comprising of this machine also, is capable of generating 
cash flows of ₹ 54 crore per annum and has a carrying amount of ₹ 3.46 crore. All such 
machines put together could fetch a sum of ₹ 4.44 crore if disposed. Discuss the applicability 
of Impairment loss. 
 
Solution: 
As per provisions of AS 28 “Impairment of Assets”, impairment loss is not to be recognized 
for a given asset if its cash generating unit (CGU) is not impaired. In the given question, the 
related cash generating unit which is group of asset to which the damaged machine belongs 
is not impaired; and the recoverable amount is more than the carrying amount of group of 
assets. Hence there is no need to provide for impairment loss on the damaged sachet filling 
machine. 
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1/1/19 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2027 2025 2026

1 1 D ↑ ↓ 1 P ↑ Y

4000 3y ears 3/12/21
Laks

a) CarryingAmount 3/12/21

Cost = 40000 Larns Life = 8 years
Residua value = 1000 Launs

Dep - p . a . =000-1000 = 4875 Launs p . a
.

(From 2019 to 2021)

Book value/Carrying Amount
=

4000 - (4875x3)
(3/(2/2)

= 25375 Lakus



b) Value in use 3/1/21
PVF & 15% Present value

Year Cash flows

2022 4000 0 . 870 34 Sp

2023 6000 0 . 756 4536

2024 6000 0- 658 3948

2025 2000 0 . 572 4576

Residue
2026 4000 + 1000 0 .497 2485

= 5000

19025 Lakhs

C) RecoverableAmount

Higher of Net Selling Price or value in use

20000 or 19025

=> 20000 Laks



d) Impairment loss

CarryingAmount - Recoverable amount

= 25375 - 20000 = 5575 Las

e) Revised Carrying Amount

25375 - 5375 = 20000 Lakus

1) Depreciation chargefor 2012

000-1000 = 3800 Lakhs

5



↑/80 Costy Machine = 7 crose

Dep . p . a .
= 7cr-Nie

= I crose
-

7

11/24
Carrying Amount/Book valve = 7 crore - (1Crx x 4)

= 5 (2x

RevolvedAmount
= 5% Cros

Revaluation Increase Credited to Revalued Reserve = 2 . 10 crose

313146
Dep . p . a . (Non 24-25) = 0

= 1 . 7 crore

3

Carrying Amount on 34 3/26 = 5 .10 cr . - (1 . 70(r . x 2)
= 1 .70 (200

RecoverableAmount = 0 . 79 cro

Impairment loss = 1 . 70CNU-0 . 79 CNU

= 0 . 91 crose



Treatment of Impairment loss

Since increased depreciation adjusted against Revduation Rescue
,

Balance in Revaluation Reserve on 3/3/26

Revaluation Reserve= 2% chose

- Increased dep-adjusted
= (1 . 40 (rose)

C (x2) or (1 :70er - /cr)x 2

Balance 0 .70 (200

Total Impairment loss = 0 . 91 crore

-

Adjusted gainst Revaluation = (0 .70 crose)
Reserve

Adjusted against PLA/ 0 : 21 Close
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Earnings per share (EPS) is a financial ratio indicating the amount of profit or loss for the 
period attributable to each equity share. 
 

EPS is of 2 types 
 Basic EPS 
 Diluted EPS 

 

Basic Earnings Per Share 
Net profit (loss) attributable to equity shareholders 

Weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the period 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Date Particulars Purchased Sold Balance 
1st January Balance at beginning of year 1800 - 1800 
31st May Issue of shares for cash 600 - 2400 
1st November Buy back of shares - 300 2100 

Calculate weighted number of shares. Calculate Earnings per share also if Net Profit for the 
year is ₹ 16,80,000. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

EARNINGS PER SHARE 
 

Pg no._____  (ICAI Study Material) Question 1 

 

Earnings attributable
to ESH EBIT X X

- Interest

EBT
Denot deduct any - TCU E
Reservefrom PAT Ho EAT/PAT Cumulative : Always
calculate earnings. - Pry. Divided Noncumulative : Only when

declared

Weighted Average 0/ Equily Shares : Means average according to theperiod.

1/4 117 III 3/3
I A D &

50000 + 40000 -> 1000 S000x

Weighted Arg= (50000x ) + (1000 x )
- 1000 x = 775

Weighted Aug : (000X1) + (600xE) - BOOxE) = 1800 + 350
- 50

= 2100

Basic EPS = 180000 =
800

2108
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Date Particulars No. of Shares Face Value Paid up Value 
1st January Balance at beginning of year 1800 ₹ 10 ₹ 10 
31st October Issue of shares 600 ₹ 10 ₹ 5 

Calculate weighted number of shares. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
In April, 2019 a Limited Company issued 1,20,000 equity shares of ₹ 100 each. ₹50 per share 
was called up on that date which was paid by all shareholders. The remaining ₹ 50 was called 
up on 1.9.2019. All shareholders paid the sum in September, 2019, except on shareholder 
having 24,000 shares. The net profit for the year ended 31.3.2020 is ₹ 2,64,000 after dividend 
on preference shares of ₹ 64,000.  
Compute basic EPS for year ended 31.3.2020 as per AS 20. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Net profit for the year 2019 ₹ 18,00,000 
Net profit for the year 2020 ₹ 60,00,000 
No. of equity shares outstanding until 30th Sept 2020 20,00,000 

Bonus issue 1st October 2020 was 2 equity shares for each equity share outstanding at 30th 
September, 2020. Calculate Basic Earnings Per Share. 
 
 
 
 

Pg no._____  (ICAI Study Material) Question 2 

 

Pg no._____  Question 3 

 

Pg no._____  (ICAI Study Material) Question 4 

 

Partly Paid shares
: Equate withfully paid shares

weighted Aug .
share = (1800x ) + (600x5 x : 1800 + 50 : 185

Weighted Aug. Amount

1/4 (120000 x 50) x- = 60000
Basic EPS = 26400

119 (96000 x 50)x = = 2800000 = 3

-

8800000
--

Wrighted Aug- share =
880000
-

100

= 88000 shares

&Onus Issue . Treated as issued since beginning ofyear & previousyear
.
Date not

relevant.

Basic EPS = 800000
=

0 . 90

(2019) 2000000
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Net Profit for 2021-22 30,00,000 
Net Profit for 2022-23 50,00,000 
No. of shares outstanding prior to Rights Issue 20,00,000 shares 
Rights issue Ratio One share for each five equity shares 

outstanding (i.e. 4,00,000 shares) 
Rights Issue Price ₹ 20 
Last day to exercise rights 1st June ,2022 
Fair value of share before Rights Issue ₹ 26 

Compute Basic EPS for FY 2021-22 , FY 2022-23 and restated EPS for FY 2021-22. 
 
Solution 
Computation of theoretical ex-rights fair value per share 
=   Fair value of o/s shares prior to right exercise + Total Amt. received from exercise of rights 
Number of shares outstanding prior to exercise + number of shares issued in the exercise 
=   (26 x 20,00,000 shares) + ( 20 x 4,00,000 shares) 

20,00,000 shares + 4,00,000 shares 
Theoretical ex-rights fair value per share = ₹ 25 
Paid Part in Right Issue = 4,00,000 * 20/25 = 3,20,000 shares 
Bonus Part in Right Issue = 4,00,000 – 3,20,000 = 80,000 shares 

Computation of earnings per share 
 Year 21 – 22 Year 22 – 23 

EPS for the year 21 - 22 as originally reported: 
(₹ 30,00,000/20,00,000 shares) 1.50  

EPS for the year 21 - 22 restated for rights issue: 
[₹ 30,00,000/(20,00,000 shares + 80,000 shares)] 1.44  

EPS for the year 22-23 including effects of rights issue                       
                               50,00,000                                 . 
{(20,00,000 + 80,000)*12/12}+ (3,20,000 x 10/12) 

 2.13 

 

Pg no._____  Question 5 

 

(RTP Nov 2023) 

Bonus issue on 1/10 = 20LX = 40 Lan shares

Basic EPS (2000)
= 60enox

Adjusted/restated/ 1800000

Recomputed EPS (2019)
=

--
=

=
0

20L + 40C

Right Issue
1) Compute Market Priu/Fair

Value En-Right (Nighted Aug
- Price)

2) Calculate Paid Part &
Bonus Part in Right

Right"share x g Price
-> Eight shaus-Paid

Port

3) Compute EPS : Paid partEn-righte Issue & Bonus Partyon beginning .
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NAT, a listed entity, as on 1st April,2021 had the following capital structure: 

 ₹ 
10,00,000 Equity Shares having face value of ₹ 1 each 10,00,000 
10,00,000 8% Preference Shares having face value of ₹ 10 each 1,00,00,000 

During the year 2021-2022, the company had profit after tax of ₹ 90,00,000 
On 1st January,2022, NAT made a bonus issue of one equity share for every 2 equity shares 
outstanding as at 31st December,2021. 
On 1st January,2022, NAT issued 2,00,000 equity shares of ₹ 1 each at their full market price 
of ₹ 7.60 per share. NAT's shares were trading at ₹ 8.05 per share on 31st March,2022. 
Further it has been provided that the basic earnings per share for the year ended 31st 
March,2021 was previously reported at ₹ 62.30. 
You are required to: 
(i) Calculate the basic earnings per share to be reported in the financial statements of NAT 

for the year ended 31st March,2022 including the comparative figure, in accordance with 
AS-20 Earnings Per Share. 

(ii) Explain why the bonus issue of shares and the shares issue at full market price are 
treated differently in the calculation of the basic earnings per share? 

 
Solution 
(i) Calculation of Basic Earnings per share for the year ended 31st March, 2022 including 

the comparative figure: 
(a) Earnings for the year ended 31st March, 2021 = EPS x Number of shares outstanding 

during 2020-2021 
= ₹ 62.30 x 10,00,000 equity shares = ₹ 6,23,00,000 
 

(b) Adjusted Earnings per share after taking into consideration bonus issue 
Adjusted Basic EPS =  Earnings for the year 2020-2021  

Total outstanding shares +Bonus issue 
= ₹ 6,23,00,000 / (10,00,000+ 5,00,000) 
= ₹ 6,23,00,000 / 15,00,000  = ₹ 41.53 per share 

(c) Basic EPS for the year 2021-2022 
Basic EPS = (Total Earnings – Preference Shares Dividend)  

(Total shares outstanding at the beginning + Bonus issue + weighted 
average of the shares issued in January, 2022) 

= (₹ 90,00,000 – ₹ (1,00,00,000 x 8%) / (10,00,000 + 5,00,000 + (2,00,000 x 3/12)) 
= ₹ 82,00,000 / 15,50,000 shares = ₹ 5.29 per share 

 
(ii) In case of a bonus issue, equity shares are issued to existing shareholders for no 

additional consideration. Therefore, the number of equity shares outstanding is increased 
without an increase in resources. Since the bonus issue is an issue without consideration, 
the issue is treated as if it had occurred prior to the beginning of the year 2021, the earliest 
period reported. However, the share issued at full market price does not carry any bonus 
element and usually results in a proportionate change in the resources available to the 
enterprise. Therefore, it is taken into consideration from the time it has been issued i.e. 
the time- weighting factor is considered based on the specific shares outstanding as a 
proportion of the total number of days in the period. 

 
 

Pg no._____  (Inter May 2022) (5 Marks) / (ICAI Study Material) Question 6 
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Calculate the diluted earnings per share from the following information: 

Net profit for the current year ₹ 85,50,000 
No. of equity shares outstanding 20,00,000 
No. of 8% convertible debentures of ₹ 100 each. Each 
debenture is convertible into 10 equity shares 

1,00,000 

Interest expenses for the current year ₹ 6,00,000 
Tax relating to interest expenses 30% 

 
Solution 
Computation of diluted earnings per share =  Adjusted net profit for the current year 

        Weighted average number of equity shares 
 

Diluted earnings per share  =  89,70,000 
27,50,000 shares 

=    ₹ 3.26 per share 
 

Net profit for the current year 85,50,000 
Add: Interest expense for the current year 6,00,000 
Less: Tax relating to interest expense (30% of 6,00,000) (1,80,000) 
Adjusted net profit for the current year 89,70,000 

Weighted average number of equity shares 
Number of equity shares resulting from conversion of debentures  = 1,00,000 X 100 

           10 
= 10,00,000 Equity shares 

 
Weighted average number of equity shares used to compute diluted earnings per share 
= [(20,00,000 x 12) + (10,00,000 x 9*)]/12 = 27,50,000 shares 
*Interest on debentures for full year amounts to ₹ 8,00,000 (i.e. 8% of ₹ 1,00,00,000). 
However, interest expense amounting ₹ 6,00,000 has been given in the question. It may be 
concluded that debentures have been issued during the year and interest has been provided 
for 9 months. 

Pg no._____  Question 7 
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The following information is provided to you: 
Net profit for the year 2022: ₹72,00,000 
Weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during  
the year 2022:  

30,00,000 
shares 

Average Fair value of one equity share during the year 2022: ₹ 25.00 
Weighted average number of shares under option during  
the year 2022: 

6,00,000 
shares 

Exercise price for shares under option during the year 2022: ₹ 20.00 
You are required to compute Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Share as per AS 20. 
 
Solution: 

Computation of Basic earnings per share 
 Earnings Shares Earnings/ 

Share 
Net profit for the year 2022 72,00,000   
Weighted average no. of shares during year 2022  30,00,000  
Basic earnings per share (72,00,000/30,00,000)   2.40 

 
Computation of Diluted earnings per share 
 Earnings Shares Earnings/Share 

Net profit for the year 2022 72,00,000   
Weighted average no. of shares during year 2022  30,00,000  
Number of shares under option  6,00,000  
Number of shares that would have been issued 
at fair value (6,00,000 x 20.00)/25.00 

 (4,80,000)  

Diluted earnings per share 72,00,000 31,20,000 2.31  
(rounded-off) 
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For Accounting year 1-4-2019 to 31-3-2020 

Net profit attributable to equity shareholders 1,00,00,000 
No. of equity shares outstanding 20,00,000 
Average fair value of one equity share during the year 75 

 

Potential Equity Shares 
Options 1,00,000 with exercise price of ₹ 60 
Convertible Preference 
Shares 

8,00,000 shares entitled to cumulative dividend of ₹8 per share. 
Each preference share is convertible into 2 equity shares 

12% Convertible 
Debentures of ₹ 100 each 

Nominal amount ₹ 10,00,00,000. Each debenture is convertible 
into 4 equity shares. 

Tax rate 30% 
Calculate diluted earnings per share as per AS 20. 
 
Solution 
Incremental Earnings per share (IEPS) =     Increase in Earnings 

Increase in number of equity shares  
(1) Options    

IEPS     =  Nil   = Nil 
20,000 Shares* 

*1,00,000*(75-60)/75 = 20,000 
(2) Convertible Preference Shares    

IEPS     =  (8*8,00,000)  =  64,00,000    =  4 
(2*8,00,000)  16,00,000 

Pg no._____  Question 9 
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(3) Convertible Debentures    
IEPS     =  (10,00,00,000)*12%*(1-0.30) 

(4*10,00,000) 
    =  84,00,000    =  2.10 

40,00,000 
 
It may be noted from the above that options are most dilutive as their earnings per 
incremental share is nil.  Hence, for the purpose of computation of diluted earnings per share, 
options will be considered first.  12% convertible debentures being second most dilutive will 
be considered next and thereafter convertible preference shares will be considered. 

Conversion of Diluted Earnings Per Share 
 Net Profit 

Attributable 
No. of Equity 

Shares 
Earnings 
per Share 

 

As reported 1,00,00,000 20,00,000 5  
Options - 20,000   

 1,00,00,000 20,20,000 4.95 Dilutive 
12% Convertible Debentures 84,00,000 40,00,000   

 1,84,00,000 60,20,000 3.06 Dilutive 
Convertible Preference Shares 64,00,000 16,00,000   

 2,48,00,000 76,20,000 3.25 Anti Dilutive 
Since diluted earnings per share is increased when taking the convertible preference shares 
into account (from ₹ 3.06 to ₹ 3.25), the convertible preference shares are anti-dilutive and 
are ignored in the calculation of diluted earnings per share. Therefore, diluted earnings per 
share is ₹ 3.06. 
 

 
 
 
X Limited, as at March 31, 2021, has income from continuing ordinary operations of ₹ 2,40,000, 
a loss from discontinuing operations of ₹ 3,60,000 and accordingly a net loss of ₹ 1,20,000. 
The Company has 1,000 equity shares and 200 potential equity shares outstanding as at March 
31, 2021. You are required to compute Basic and Diluted EPS? 
 
Solution 
As per AS 20 “Potential equity shares should be treated as dilutive when, and only when, their 
conversion to equity shares would decrease net profit per share or increase loss per share 
from continuing ordinary operations”. As income from continuing ordinary operations, ₹ 
2,40,000 would be considered and not ₹ (1,20,000), for ascertaining whether 200 potential 
equity shares are dilutive or anti-dilutive. Accordingly, 200 potential equity shares would be 
dilutive potential equity shares since their inclusion would decrease the net profit per share 
from continuing ordinary operations from ₹ 240 to ₹ 200.  

Thus, the basic E.P.S would be ₹ (120) and diluted E.P.S. would be ₹ (100). 
 
 

Pg no._____  Question 10 
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AS - 15

Employee Benefits
(Not applicable on Employee share based payments

Employee : Contracty service-> can be full time
, part time , casual/temporary , permanent, et

Employee Benefits :Allforms of consideration for services reedered that areprovided under

Y Y Y

J Ormal practicesFormalAgreement - Legislative Requirement
(Eig : Diwali Bonus) (E.g . Provident Fund)

↑ can be paid in cash or in kind
↑ Include bengits provided to employee , spouse , children or other dependents .

Types of Employee Benefits
X ~ Y Y

Short Term POST Long Term Termination

Employee Benefits Enes/ Employmenta Employee Benefits Benefits& lsloy
(STEB) C (LTEB) TB)P EEB) C

Payable within 12 months payable after payable after 12M Payable on Termination

Iyear end Completionof service butbyon retirement
Eg: Salaries

, Wages Eig ! Gratisy, Pension
,

E.g: Long Term Compensated Absence, Eg : VRS
,

J S
-

STCA (Leaves), Provident Fund , Puf itsharinga50us, Retrachment
it sharinga Bonus

,
Medical care , Jubilee Awards

, Compensation .Pry
Non monetary benefits Settlement Allowance Long Tem Disability Benefits [Wlogg in PLA/)Treatmentsame as[A/cing

PEEB]
If



Accounting Treatment

1) Short Term Employee Benefits (STEB) : Recognise expense at undiscounted/absolute amount.

A/c - Dr

Saraysday Ap - DrPrepaid
TO Back A/c
To O/ Sclay Al

Short term CompensatedAbsence (Special Treatment
(Leaves)

AccumulatioNon Accumulating g S(used during they ear) (nutilised atyear end's

No Treatment can be used in Cannotbe

Next 12 months
used

X V

Provide for full or proportionate NoTreatment

amount of amount payableyou
Such leaves

it sharing & Bonus PlansPur
Recognise expected cost as expense if !

& Enterprise has present obligation as a resultof past event &
* Reliable estimate can be made .



2) Post Employment Employee Benefits (PEEB) :

Y V **

DefinedContribution Plans (DCP) Defined Benit Plans (DBP)

Obligationtopay fixed contributiont a Employer has obligation but contribution is not
required .

Record expense based on actual contribution

E : Provident Find
,

Pension Fund
,
etc. Eg: Gratuity, Leave Salary, Settlement Allowance,Effo

*
Defined Benit Plan/Obligation

Steps 1) Calculate Estimated Benefit Payable by applying Demographic & Financial Assumptions

2) Calculate Allocated Benit based on balance service period

3)Calculate current service cost

4) Calculate Finance cost (Interest cost) (P-factors in reverse manners
Actuarial Gain/loss : Actuary reviews the calculation& anygain/loss to be recognised

immediately in PLA/c . (No Deferment allowed

DBO/PVDBO A/C
To Benefits Paid XX By Barb/d XX

(Ant paid on settlement By currentService cost (CSC) XX

X X

To Actuarial Gain XX B InterST COST (IC)
XByActuarial loss

To Bal 2/d X
-

- -- -

* Any One .



Note : If Entity has funded the obligation , then make Plan Assets All

Plan Assets All Assumption : Contributions & Beny its paid
To Balb/d XX By Benefits Paid X X are in middle of year
To contribution XX

XX

To Expected Return XX By Actuary Loss (BJ) & Expected Ranof Return : & is calculated based
To Actuary Gain XX on many enest estimate

(BJ) By Bal2/d XX

Chargeable Rate: F - I
(Fairvalue)
-

- -

-

Incone will be calculated or Ha Yearly basis.

Actual Return : Expected Return ! Actuacial Gain/ (loss)

Modification in DBO

V ~

Increase Curtailment

*

UPSCA/c
- Dr When employer reduce noof employees orbenefits under Plan .

TO DBO Gain or Loss is to beselognised & Syd . to P&LA/C.

* Unamortised Past Service cost Reduction in Gross Obligation XX

(It can be deferred) Less : Proportionate reduction in UPSC X
Gain on curtailment XX

-

Balance sheet : Disclosure

PVof DBO new balance after Reduction XX

Less : - Fair Value of Plan Assets (XY)
Less : Unamortised PastService cost x
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An employee Roshan has joined a company XYZ Ltd. in the year 2021. The annual emoluments 
of Roshan as decided is ₹ 14,90,210. The company also has a policy of giving a lump sum 
payment of 25% of the last drawn annual salary of the employee for each completed year of 
service if the employee retires after completing minimum 5 years of service. The salary of 
the Roshan is expected to grow @ 10% per annum. 
The company has inducted Roshan in the beginning of the year and it is expected that he will 
complete the minimum five year term before retiring. Thus he will get 5 yearly increment. 
What is the amount the company should charge in its Profit and Loss account every year as 
cost for the Defined Benefit obligation? Also calculate the current service cost and the interest 
cost to be charged per year assuming a discount rate of 8%. 
(P.V factor for 8% - 0.735, 0.794, 0.857, 0.926, 1) 
 
 
 
Omega Limited belongs to the engineering industry. The company received an actuarial 
valuation for the first time for its pension scheme which revealed a surplus of ₹ 6 lakhs. It 
wants to spread the same over the next 2 years by reducing the annual contribution to ₹ 2 
lakhs instead of ₹ 5 lakhs. The average remaining life of the employees is estimated to be 6 
years. You are required to advise the company on the following items from the viewpoint of 
finalization of accounts, taking note of the mandatory accounting standards. 
 
Solution  
According to AS 15 ‘Employee Benefits’, actuarial gains and losses should be recognized 
immediately in the statement of profit and loss as income or expense.  
Therefore, surplus amount of ₹ 6 lakhs is required to be credited to the profit and loss 
statement of the current year. 
 
 
 
The following data apply to ‘X’ Ltd. defined benefit pension plan for the year ended 31.03.2022 
calculate the actual return on plan assets: 
- Benefits paid 2,00,000 
- Employer contribution 2,80,000 
- Fair market value of plan assets on 31.03.2022 11,40,000 
- Fair market value of plan assets as on 31.03.2021 8,00,000 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS  

 

Pg no._____   (ICAI Study Material) Question 1 

 

Pg no._____   (ICAI Study Material) Question 3 

 

Pg no._____   (ICAI Study Material) Question 2 
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The fair value of plan assets of Anupam Ltd. was ₹ 2,00,000 in respect of employee benefit 
pension plan as on 1st April, 2021.   On 30th September, 2021 the plan paid out benefits of ₹ 
25,000 and received inward contributions of ₹ 55,000. On 31st March, 2022 the fair value of 
plan assets was ₹ 3,00,000. On 1st April, 2021 the company made the following estimates, 
based on its market studies and prevailing prices. 

 % 
Interest and dividend income (after tax) payable by fund 10.25 
Realized gains on plan assets (after tax) 3.00 
Fund administrative costs (3.00) 
Expected rate of return 10.25 

Calculate the expected and actual returns on plan assets as on 31st March, 2022, as per AS 15. 
 
 
Solution: 

Computation of Expected Returns on Plan Assets as on 31st March, 2022, as per AS 15 
 ₹ 

Return on opening value of plan assets of ₹ 2,00,000 (held for the year) @ 10.25% 20,500 
Add: Return on net gain of ₹ 30,000 (i.e. ₹ 55,000 – ₹ 25,000) during the year i.e. 
held for six months @ 5% (equivalent to 10.25% annually, compounded every six 
months) 

 
1,500 

Expected return on plan assets as on 31st March, 2022 22,000 
 
Computation of Actual Returns on Plan Assets as on 31st March, 2022, as per AS 15 
 ₹   ₹ 
Fair value of Plan Assets as on 31st March, 2022  3,00,000 
Less: Fair value of Plan Assets as on 1st April, 2021 2,00,000  
          Contribution as on received as 30th September, 2021 55,000 (2,55,000) 
  45,000 
Add: Benefits paid as on 30th September, 2021  25,000 
Actual returns on Plan Assets as on 31st March 2022  70,000 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Pg no._____   (ICAI Study Material) Question 4 
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Rock Star Ltd. discontinues a business segment. Under the agreement with employee’s union, 
the employees of the discontinued segment will earn no further benefit. This is a curtailment 
without settlement, because employees will continue to receive benefits for services 
rendered before discontinuance of the business segment. Curtailment reduces the gross 
obligation for various reasons including change in actuarial assumptions made before 
curtailment. If the benefits are determined based on the last pay drawn by employees, the 
gross obligation reduces after the curtailment because the last pay earlier assumed is no 
longer valid. 
Rock Star Ltd. estimates the share of unamortized service cost that relates to the part of the 
obligation at ₹18 (10% of ₹180). Calculate gain from curtailment and liability after curtailment 
to be recognised in the balance sheet of Rock Star Ltd. on the basis of given information: 

a) Immediately before the curtailment, gross obligation is estimated at ₹ 6,000 based on 
current actuarial assumption. 

b) The fair value of plan assets on the date is estimated at ₹ 5,100. 
c) The unamortized past service cost is ₹ 180. 
d) Curtailment reduces the obligation by ₹ 600, which is 10% of the gross obligation. 

 
Solution: 

Gain from curtailment is estimated as under: 
 ₹ 

Reduction in gross obligation 600 
Less: Proportion of unamortised past service cost (18) 
Gain from curtailment 582 

 
The liability to be recognised after curtailment in the balance sheet is estimated as under: 
 ₹ 
Reduced gross obligation (90% of ₹ 6,000) 5,400 
Less: Fair value of plan assets (5,100) 
 300 
Less: Unamortised past service cost (90% of ₹ 180) (162) 
Liability to be recognised in the balance sheet 138 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Pg no._____   (ICAI Study Material) Question 5 

 



( computation of Expected Benefit/Defined Benefit obligation

(1490%0 x (110) x 25 % x 5

Y

Last drawn salary Completedyearof service

=> 30
,

00
,

000

Allocated Bangit
= 3000000 = 600000 p ..

5

Year AllocatedAmount PVF & 8% Current service cost

I 600000 0-735 441000

2 600000 0 - 794 476400

3 600000 0 .857 5/4200

4 600000
0 . 926 555600

5 600000
I 600000

2
,587200



Total Finance/Interest cost = 500000 - 2587200 = 7/2800

Year 1 year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

I opening
↑ 41000 95268 1545094 2222142

35280 76214 123448 177858

2) Interest cost
-

(BJ)

S

I
-

III I(1) x 8 %

3)Current service cost 441000 476400 514200 555600 600000

n) Closing 441000 952680 1543094 2222/42 3000000

(1) + (2) + (3)

Accounting Entry Eg : Year 2

Current service cost A/c-Dr 476400

Finance / Interest Cost /C
-Dr 3528

TO DBO/PVDBO/POrfor DBO 5116S0

A BO : Defined Benefit Obligation



3)
Plan Assets All

To Bal b/d 800000 By Benefits Paid 200000

To contribution 280000

1140000T Actual Return 26,000 By Bclyd

(BJ)

Alternative :

Fair Value of Plan Assets on 3/3/21 = 800000

+ contribution during year
= 28000

-

Benefits Paid
= (200000

880000 (A)

Fair Value of Plan Affets on 313/22 1140000 (B)

ACNe Refur (B) - (A) 260000



7) Fair Value of Plan Assets 1/4/21 = 200000

+ contribution 55000

-

Benefits Paid (2500)
230000

Fair Valueof Plan Assets 31/3/22 300000

70000
ActualReturn

1/4/22 30/9 343/22 Expected Rate = 10 . 25%

I & ↓ (effective rateof return)

200000 + 55000 Charging rate = 125 = 1 = 5 %

- 25000 (0 +. p. a . composeding hayyearly)
Expected Return 10

%X 6/

Ist 6 months= 200000 X 5 % = 10000

Next 6 months = 200000

+ 1000

+ 55000

- 25000
--

240000 x 5%
= 12000

22000
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Objective AS 9 deals with the basis for recognition of revenue in the Statement of 
P&L. Recognition means timing of recording the revenue in the P&L A/c 
of enterprise. 
 

Scope of AS 9 
 

❖ Revenue from Sale of goods. 
❖ Revenue from Rendering of services  
❖ Revenue from Interest, Royalties and Dividend 
 

Non 
Applicability 

❖ Revenue arising from Construction contracts (AS 7) 
❖ Revenue arising from Hire purchase and lease agreements (AS 19) 
❖ Revenue arising from Government grants and other similar subsidies 

(AS 12) 
❖ Revenue of Insurance company arising under insurance contracts 

 

Other 
examples of 

scope 
exclusions 

 

Revenue does not include the following:  
❖ Realized gains on disposal of non-current assets.  

Example: Gain on sale of fixed assets under AS 10. 
❖ Unrealized gains on holding of Non- current assets  

Example: Appreciation in the value of fixed assets under AS 10. 
❖ Unrealized holding gains resulting from change in value of current 

assets. 
❖ Realized/unrealized gains resulting from changes in foreign exchange 

rates and adjustments arising on translation of foreign currency 
financial statement (AS11) 

 

Meaning of 
Revenue 

Revenue is the gross inflow of : 
➢ Cash 
➢ Receivables or 
➢ Other consideration  

arising in the course of ordinary activities of an enterprise from the  
• Sale of goods,  
• Rendering of services and  
• Use by others of enterprise resources yielding interest; royalties and 

dividends.  
Exception – In an agency relationship, revenue is the amount of 
commission and not the gross inflow of cash, receivables or other 
considerations. 

Note: Trade Discounts & volume rebates to be deducted while determining 
revenue 
 
 

CONDITIONS FOR RECOGNITION 

Sale of goods 
(PARA 11) 

✓ The seller of goods has transferred to buyer the property in goods for 
a price or all significant risks and rewards of ownership have been 
transferred to the buyer.  

✓ The seller retains no effective control of the goods transferred to a 
degree usually associated with ownership. 

✓ No significant uncertainty regarding consideration 

REVENUE RECOGNITION  
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Rendering of 
services 

(PARA 12) 

✓ Service is performed as per the terms of the contract i.e. either as per 
completed service contract method (For Eg: Installation of machinery or 
repair service) or proportionate completion method. 

✓ No significant uncertainty regarding consideration 
 

Use of 
resource of the 
enterprise by 

others 
(PARA 13) 

 

Interest On a time proportion basis taking into account the amount 
outstanding and the rate applicable 

Royalty On an accrual basis in accordance with the terms of relevant 
agreement i.e. when the conditions attached have been 
complied with. 

Dividend When the owners right to receive payment is established i.e.  
• In case of Final Dividend, date when it is declared at an AGM  
• In case of Interim Dividend, date it is declared in Board Meeting 

Revenue should be recognised when no significant uncertainty as to 
measurability or collectability exists. 
 

SOME IMPORTANT POINTS 

Delivery is 
delayed at 

buyer’s request 

When delivery is delayed at buyer’s request and buyer takes title and 
accepts billing, revenue should be recognized when  
➢ There is every expectation that delivery will be made  
➢ Item must be on hand, identified & ready for delivery at time sale is 

recognized.  
 

Delivery 
subject to 

installation, 
inspection etc. 

Revenue should normally not be recognised until the customer accepts 
delivery and installation and inspection are complete.  
However, in case the installation is simple (for example, a refrigerator needs to 
be plugged to a power connection after delivery to customer’s place), revenue 
is recognized when the customer has agreed to purchase the goods. 
 

Goods on 
Approval basis 

 

Revenue should not be recognized until  
➢ The goods have been formally accepted by the buyer 
➢ Buyer has done an act adopting the transaction  
➢ Time period for rejection has lapsed  
 

Guaranteed 
Sales 

In the case of retail sales offering a guarantee of “money back if not 
completely satisfied” it may be appropriate to recognise the sale but to 
make a suitable provision for returns based on previous experience. 
 

Consignment Revenue is to be recognized when goods are sold by consignee to third 
party 
 

Cash on 
delivery 

Revenue should not be recognised until cash is received by the seller or 
his agent 
 

Sale to 
distributors or 

others for 
resale 

Revenue from such sales can generally be recognized if significant risks 
of ownership have passed; however, in some situations the buyer may in 
substance be an agent and in such cases the sale should be treated as a 
consignment sale. 

Subscriptions 
for 

publications 

Revenue should be recognised either on straight line basis over time or, 
where items delivered vary in value, revenue should be based on sales 
value of item delivered. 
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For Advertising 
agencies 

Amount will be recognized when advertisement appears before the 
public. 
 

Artistic 
Performances, 
banquets, etc. 

Revenue from artistic performances, banquets and other special events 
should be recognised when the event takes place 

Tuition Fees Revenue should be recognised over the period of instruction 
Insurance 

Agent Comm. 
Revenue should be recognized on the effective commencement or 
renewal dates of the related policies. 
 

Installation 
Fees 

In cases where installation fees are other than incidental to the sale of a 
product, they should be recognised as revenue only when the equipment 
is installed and accepted by the customer. 
 

Membership 
Fees 

➢ If the membership fee permits only membership and all other services 
or products are paid for separately, or if there is a separate annual 
subscription, the fee should be recognised when received.  

➢ If the membership fee entitles the member to services or publications 
to be provided during the year, it should be recognised on a systematic 
and rational basis having regard to the timing and nature of all services 
provided 

 

Price  
revisions 

Income can be recognized when there is certainty of collection 
 

Sale and 
Repurchase 
Agreement 

For transactions, where seller concurrently agrees to repurchase the 
same goods at later date that are in substance a financing agreement, the 
resulting cash inflow is not revenue as defined and should not be 
recognized as revenue. 
 
Example 
On 1st January 2023, M/s KJ sells goods at invoice value of ₹ 5 lakhs to 
M/s TH. At the time of sale, M/s KJ has agreed to repurchase these goods 
back from M/s TH on 31st March at a price of ₹ 6 Lac. You are required to 
do the accounting for above transactions in the books of M/s KJ. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

→ When the ability to assess the ultimate collection with reasonable certainty is lacking at 
the time of raising any claim, the revenue recognition should be postponed to the extent 
of uncertainty involved. (PARA 10) 

 
→ When the uncertainty regarding collection arises subsequent to the sale or rendering of 

services, then provision should be created instead of reducing the amount originally 
recorded.  
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Given the following information of M/s. Paper Products Ltd:- 
a) Goods of ₹ 60,000 were sold on 20-3-2020 but at the request of the buyer these were 

delivered on 10-4-2020. 
b) On 15-1-2020 goods of ₹ 1,50,000 were sent on consignment basis of which 20% of the goods 

unsold are lying with the consignee as on 31-3-2020. 
c) ₹ 1,20,000 worth of goods were sold on approval basis on 1-12-2019. The period of approval 

was 3 months after which they were considered sold. Buyer sent approval for 75% goods 
up to 31-1-2020 and no approval or disapproval received for the remaining goods till 31-3-
2020. 

d) Apart from the above, the company has made cash sales of ₹ 7,80,000 (gross). Trade 
discount of 5% was allowed on the cash sales. 

You are required to advise the accountant of M/s. Paper Products Ltd., with valid reasons, the 
amount to be recognized as revenue in above cases in the context of AS-9 and also determine 
the total revenue to be recognized for the year ending 31-3-2020. 
 
Solution 
As per AS 9 “Revenue Recognition”, in a transaction involving the sale of goods, performance 
should be regarded as being achieved when the following conditions are fulfilled: 
(i) the seller of goods has transferred to the buyer the property in the goods for a price or 

all significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer and the 
seller retains no effective control of the goods transferred to a degree usually associated 
with ownership; and 

(ii) no significant uncertainty exists regarding the amount of the consideration that will be 
derived from the sale of the goods. 

 
In case (a): 
The sale is complete but delivery has been postponed at buyer’s request. M/s Paper Products 
Ltd. should recognize the entire sale of ₹ 60,000 for the year ended 31st March, 2020. 
 
In case (b): 
20% goods lying unsold with consignee should be treated as closing inventory and sales 
should be recognized for ₹ 1,20,000 (80% of ₹ 1,50,000). In case of consignment sale revenue 
should not be recognized until the goods are sold to a third party. 
 
In case (c): 
In case of goods sold on approval basis, revenue should not be recognized until the goods 
have been formally accepted by the buyer or the buyer has done an act adopting the 
transaction or the time period for rejection has elapsed or where no time has been fixed, a 
reasonable time has elapsed. Therefore, in case (c) revenue should be recognized for the total 
sales amounting ₹ 1,20,000 as the time period for rejecting the goods had expired. 
 
In case (d): 
Trade discounts given should be deducted in determining revenue. Thus ₹ 39,000 should be 
deducted from the amount of turnover of ₹ 7,80,000 for the purpose of recognition of revenue. 
Thus, revenue should be ₹ 7,41,000. 
 
Thus total revenue amounting ₹ 10,41,000 (60,000 + 1,20,000+ 1,20,000+7,41,000) will be 
recognized for the year ended 31st March, 2020 in the books of M/s Paper Products Ltd. 
 

(RTP May 2020) / (ICAI Study Material) Question 1 
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Zigato runs a food-delivery business. As per the arrangement, Zigato allows customers to 
order food from local restaurants and is responsible the delivery of the food within stipulated 
time. During a particular year, it collects the money on orders made online as under: 

Total price for the food item -  ₹ 200 lakhs  
Delivery charges -    ₹ 60 lakhs  
GST -      ₹ 40 lakhs  

Total -    ₹ 300 lakhs  
Zigato has received ₹ 300 lakhs for the above orders from customers and the orders were 
delivered to the customer in stipulated time. How much revenue should be recognised by 
restaurants and how much revenue should be recognised by Zigato for the year? 
 
Solution 
The risks and rewards associated with the food item are not with Zigato. When a customer 
has ordered a food item, whether the item will be prepared or not is the responsibility of the 
restaurant and not Zigato. Similarly, the responsibility to deliver the food item is with Zigato 
and the restaurant does not undertake responsibility for the same.  
Therefore, the restaurant undertakes the principal’s responsibility to prepare the food and 
ensure its quality. Zigato, on the other hand, is only responsible to deliver the food. Thus, 
Zigato is acting as an agent. Hence, it can only recognize revenue relating to that activity 
(which it does in the ordinary course of business). The revenue for Zigato, therefore, is ₹ 60 
lakhs, whereas, the revenue for restaurants will be ₹ 200 lakhs.  
It may be noted that the GST of ₹ 40 lakhs is a liability payable to the Government (third party), 
hence it does not form part of revenue. 
 
 
 
AB sells goods to CD on 1st March 2023. CD is having significant cash flows issues since last 
few months. However, it is trying to raise funding through bank loan to be able to run its 
operations in future. On 5th of May 2023, CD is able to seek the funding and is expected to be 
able to pay for the goods in future. At the time of sale, it is difficult for AB to ascertain whether 
it will be able to collect the amount from CD due to poor financial conditions. Explain how the 
recognition of revenue be done by AB?  
 
Solution 
In the above case, AB should not recognise any revenue on 1st of March and until that 
uncertainty of recovery is clear. Hence, the revenue can only be recognised by AB on 5th of 
May 2023. The inventory transferred to CD until that date is required to be shown as its own 
inventory [inventory lying with customers]. 
 
 
 
AB sells goods to CD on 1st January 2023 for ₹ 2 lakhs. After the sale was made, CD is having 
significant cash flows issues. It is trying to raise funding through bank loan to be able to run 
its operations in future. However, it is unable to do so and has gone under liquidation on 15th 
of March 2023. At the time of sale, there was no reason for AB to believe that it will not be 
able to collect the amount from CD in future.  
Explain how the recognition of revenue be done by AB for the year ended 31st March 2023?  
 
 

Question 2 

 

(ICAI Study Material) 

Question 3 

 

(ICAI Study Material) 

Question 4 

 

(ICAI Study Material) 
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Solution 
In the above case, at the time of sale, it was not unreasonable for AB to expect ultimate 
collection from CD. Therefore, AB should recognise the revenue of ₹ 2 lakhs on 1st of January 
2023 and recognise a receivable for the same amount. Later, since CD went into liquidation, 
AB should write off the receivables and book a loss in his books. 
Accounting in the books of AB 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Arjun Ltd. sold farm equipments through its dealers.  One of the conditions at the time of sale 
is payment of consideration in 14 days and in the event of delay interest is chargeable @ 15% 
per annum.  The Company has not realized interest from the dealers in the past.  However, 
for the year ended 31.3.2020, it wants to recognise interest due on the balances due from 
dealers.  The amount is ascertained at ₹ 9 lakhs.  Decide, whether the income by way of 
interest from dealers is eligible for recognition as per AS 9? 
 
Solution 
As per AS 9 “Revenue Recognition”, where the ability to assess the ultimate collection with 
reasonable certainty is lacking at the time of raising any claim, the revenue recognition is 
postponed to the extent of uncertainty inverted. In such cases, the revenue is recognized only 
when it is reasonably certain that the ultimate collection will be made. 

In this case, the company never realized interest for the delayed payments make by 
the dealers. Hence, it has to recognize the interest only if the ultimate collection is certain. 
The interest income hence is not to be recognized. 
 
 
 
 
The Board of Directors decided on 31.3.2020 to increase the sale price of certain items 
retrospectively from 1st January, 2020.  In view of this price revision with effect from 1st 
January 2020, the company has to receive ₹ 15 lakhs from its customers in respect of sales 
made from 1st January, 2020 to 31st March, 2020.  Accountant cannot make up his mind 
whether to include ₹ 15 lakhs in the sales for 2019-2020. Advise. 
 
Solution 
As per para 10 of AS 9 ‘Revenue Recognition’, the additional revenue on account of increase 
in sales price with retrospective effect, as decided by Board of Directors, of ₹ 15 lakhs to be 
recognised as income for financial year 2019-20, only if the company is able to assess the 
ultimate collection with reasonable certainty. If at the time of raising of any claim it is 
unreasonable to expect ultimate collection, revenue recognition should be postponed. 
 
 
 
 
 

(RTP Nov 2019) / (ICAI Study Material) Question 6 

 

Question 5 

 



CA NITIN GOEL                                                                                                                                 AS 9  
 

 
 
Indicate in each case whether revenue can be recognized and when it will be recognized as 
per AS-9.  
(1) Trade discount and volume rebate received.  
(2) Where goods are sold to distributors or others for resale.  
(3) Where seller concurrently agrees to repurchase the same goods at a later date.  
(4) Insurance agency commission for rendering services.  
(5) On 11-03-2019 cloths worth ₹ 50,000 were sold to X mart, but due to refurbishing of their 

showroom being underway, on their request, clothes were delivered on 12-04-2019. 
 
Solution 
(1) Trade discounts and volume rebates received are not encompassed within the definition 

of revenue, since they represent a reduction of cost. Trade discounts and volume rebates 
given should be deducted in determining revenue.  

(2) When goods are sold to distributor or others, revenue from such sales can generally be 
recognized if significant risks of ownership have passed; however, in some situations the 
buyer may in substance be an agent and in such cases the sale should be treated as a 
consignment sale.  

(3) For transactions, where seller concurrently agrees to repurchase the same goods at a 
later date that are in substance a financing agreement, the resulting cash inflow is not 
revenue as defined and should not be recognized as revenue. 

(4) Insurance agency commissions should be recognized on the effective commencement or 
renewal dates of the related policies.  

(5) On 11.03.2019, if X mart takes title and accepts billing for the goods then it is implied that 
the sale is complete and all risk and reward on ownership has been transferred to the 
buyers.  Revenue should be recognized for year ended 31st March, 2019 notwithstanding 
that physical delivery has not been completed so long as there is every expectation that 
delivery will be made and items were ready for delivery to the buyer at the time. 

 
 
Indicate in each case whether revenue can be recognized and when it will be recognized as 

per AS-9. 

a) Delivery is delayed at buyer's request but buyer takes title and accepts billing. 
b) Instalment Sales. 
c) Trade discounts and volume rebates. 
d) Insurance agency commission for rendering services. 
e) Advertising commission. 

 
Solution: 
a) Delivery is delayed at buyer’s request and buyer takes title and accepts billing : Revenue 

should be recognized notwithstanding that physical delivery has not been completed so 
long as there is every expectation that delivery will be made. However, the item must be 
on hand, identified and ready for delivery to the buyer at the time the sale is recognized 
rather than there being simply an intention to acquire or manufacture the goods in time 
for delivery. 

b) Instalment sales: When the consideration is receivable in instalments, revenue 
attributable to the sales price exclusive of interest should be recognized at the date of 
sale. The interest element should be recognized as revenue, proportionately to the unpaid 
balance due to the seller. 

(Inter Nov 2019) (5 Marks)/ (RTP May 2022) Question 7 

 

(Inter Nov 2022) (5 Marks) Question 8 
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c) Trade discounts and volume rebates: Trade discounts and volume rebates received are 
not encompassed within the definition of revenue, since they represent a reduction of cost. 
Trade discounts and volume rebates given should be deducted in determining revenue. 

d) Insurance agency commissions for rendering services: Insurance agency commissions 
should be recognized on effective commencement or renewal dates of the related policies. 

e) Advertising commission: Revenue should be recognized when the service is completed. 
For advertising agencies, media commissions will normally be recognized when the 
related advertisement or commercial appears before the public and the necessary 
intimation is received by the agency, as opposed to production commission, which will be 
recognized when the project is completed. 

 
 
 
For the year ended 31st March 2023, KY Enterprises has entered into following transactions.  
On 31 March 2023, KY supplied two machines to its customer ST. Both machines were accepted 
by ST on 31 March 2023. Machine 1 was a machine that was routinely supplied by KY to many 
customers and the installation process was very simple.  
Machine 1 was installed on 2 April 2023 by ST’s employees.  
Machine 2 being more specialised in nature requires an installation process which is more 
complicated, requiring significant assistance from KY. Machine 2 was installed between 2 and 
5 April 2023.  Details of costs and sales prices are as follows:  

Machine 1   Machine 2  
Sale Price   3,20,000   3,00,000  
Cost of production  1,60,000   1,50,000  
Installation fee  Nil    10,000  

How should above transactions be recognized by KY Enterprises for the year ended 31st 
March 2023? 
 
Solution 
Machine 1: As the installation process is simple, revenue from Machine 1 will be recognized 
on 31 March 2023.  

Revenue (Machine 1)  ₹ 3,20,000  
Cost of Goods Sold   ₹ 1,60,000  
Profit during the period  ₹ 1,60,000  

Since the question specifies that the machine is already accepted by ST on 31 March 2023, the 
revenue arising from sale of the machine needs to be recognized for the year ending 31 March 
2023. This is because acceptance of the machine indicates that the risks and rewards 
pursuant to the ownership are transferred to ST.  
 
Machine 2: Installation process for Machine 2 is more complicated, requiring significant 
assistance from KY Ltd. However, question specifies that the machine is already accepted by 
ST on 31 March 2023. Assuming that there is no further approval/acceptance required from 
the buyer for the Machine sold, revenue from sale of Machine 2 can be recognized for the 
year ending 31 March 2023.  

Revenue (Machine 2)  ₹ 3,00,000  
Cost of Goods Sold   ₹ 1,50,000  
Profit during the period  ₹ 1,50,000  

However, installation fee which is for rendering installation services cannot be recognized 
until the installation is complete. Since the machine is pending installation, the revenue in 
respect of installation charges ₹10,000 needs to be recognized on 5 April 2023 once the 
installation process gets completed. 

(ICAI Study Material) Question 9 

 







CA NITIN GOEL                                                                                                                                 AS 7 
 

 
 

 

 

 

Objective To prescribe accounting for revenue and costs associated with 
construction contracts 

Scope Accounting for construction contracts in the financial statements of 
contractors (not contractee) 

Meaning of 
construction 

contract 

It is a contract specifically negotiated for  
→ construction of an asset  

Example: Bridge, Building, Dam, etc.  
→ Combination of assets that are closely interrelated or interdependent 

in terms of design, technology, function or ultimate purpose or use.  
Example: Refineries, Other complex pieces of plant or equipment etc.  

 
Construction contracts also include:  

(a) contracts for rendering of services which are directly related to construction 
of the asset, for eg., those for the services of project managers & architects;  

(b) contracts for destruction or restoration of assets, and the restoration of the 
environment following the demolition of assets. 

 
Types of 

construction 
Contracts: 

Fixed price 
contract 

In this contract, the contractor agrees to fixed contract price 
or fixed rate per unit of output. It may be with or without 
escalation clause 

Cost plus 
contract 

In this contact, the contractor is reimbursed for the cost 
incurred plus percentage of these costs or fixed fee.  

Cost incurred (allowable/defined cost) XX 
+ % of cost or fixed fee XX 
 XX 

 
 

Contract 
revenue 

 

It means the revenue which is agreed upon between the contractor and 
contractee  
Initial contract revenue       XX 
+/- Variations (alteration in job like change in specifications)* XX 
+ Incentive payments (price for timely completion of job)** XX 
+ Price escalation (extra compensation for increased cost) XX 
+ Claims (losses in contract due to contractee like customer 
caused delays, error in specification or design etc. 

XX 

Any penalty (from delays caused by contractor) (XX) 
Contract Revenue XX 

 
* included in contract revenue when it is probable that the customer will 
approve the variation and amount of revenue arising from the variation;  
**included in contract revenue when the contract is sufficiently advanced 
that it is probable that the specified performance standards will be met 
or exceeded;  
These should be included in contract revenue if it is probable that they 
will result in revenue & they are capable of being measured. 
 

CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT  
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Contract cost It means the expenses incurred at site along with the apportioned 
contract cost  

Direct cost 
Relate directly to specific contract  
Example: Site labour cost, cost of material used, 
depreciation of plant and equipment, etc. 

Allocated 
cost 

Attributable to contract in general and can be allocated  
Example: Insurance of machinery, salary of supervisor who 
is supervising more than 1 contract, etc. 
 

Specific 

cost 

 

Specifically chargeable to customer under the terms of 
contract  
Example: General administration cost and development 
cost for which reimbursement is specified under contract  
 

Note 

Direct cost may be reduced by any incidental income that is 
not included in contract revenue  
Example: Income from sale of surplus material and 
disposal of plant & equipment at the end of contract. 
 

Exclusions 

Example: 
• general administration & research & development costs 

for which reimbursement is not specified in the contract  
• selling costs  
• depreciation of idle plant and equipment that is not used 

on a particular contract 
Recognition of 

contract 
revenue and 

expenses 
 

When to 
recognize 

When the outcome of construction contract can be 
estimated reliably 
 

Conditions 

❖ Total contract revenue can be measured reliably  
❖ It is probable that economic benefits associated with 

contract will flow to the enterprise  
❖ Contract cost can be clearly identified and measured 

reliably. 
 

Basis of 
recognition 

By reference to the stage of completion of the contract 
activity at the reporting date. 
Methods to determine stage of completion of contract 
1. % completion =  Costs till date/Total Estimated Cost *100 
2. Survey of work performed (Certification by surveyor) 
3. Completion of a physical proportion of the contract work. 
(Eg. Contract to place tiles)  
 

Computation of 
Profit 

 

          Contract Revenue x Stage of Completion (%)   =       XXX 
Less: Contract Costs till date                                       =     (XXX) 
                 Total Profit till date                                      =       XXX 
Less: Profit recognized till last year                            =     (XXX) 
             Profit for the Current Year                               =      XXX 
 

Recognition of 
expected 

losses 
 

Para 35 

When it is probable that  
        Total contract cost will exceed Total contract revenue,  
Expected loss should be recognized as expense 
immediately. 
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Para 36 

Amount of such loss is determined irrespective of  
❖ Whether or not work has commenced on the contract. 
❖ Stage of completion of contract activity 
❖ Amount of profits expected to realize on other contracts 

which are not treated as single construction contract 
When outcome 
of construction 

contract 
cannot be 
estimated 

reliably 

❖ Revenue should be recognized only to the extent of contract costs 
incurred of which recovery is probable; and 

❖ Contract costs should be recognised as expense in the period in 
which they are incurred. 

 

Combining & 
Segmenting 
Construction 

Contracts 
(CONDITIONS) 

Separate 
 

❖ separate proposals have been submitted 
❖ separate negotiations have been carried out   
❖ costs and revenue of each asset can be separately 

identified 

Combining 
❖ they are negotiated as a single package; 
❖ they are closely interrelated and 
❖ they will be performed in sequence i.e. concurrently 

Disclosure 
requirements 

 

❖ Amount of contract revenue recognized  
❖ Method used to determine such revenue 
❖ Method used to determine stage of completion of contract in progress. 
❖ Following to be disclosed for contract in progress: 

• Aggregate cost incurred  
• Profit recognized till date 
• Advance received  
• Amount of retention  
• Progress Billings 

An enterprise should also present: 
a) the gross amount due from customers for contract work as an asset & 
b) the gross amount due to customers for contract work as a liability 
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M/s Action Construction Company Ltd. undertook a fixed price construction contract to 
construct a building within 3 years time for ₹ 10,000 lakhs.   
A summary of the financial data during the construction period is as follows: 
 Amount (In Lacs) 
 Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 
Initial Amount for revenue agreed in contract 10,000 10,000 10,000 
Variation in Revenue (+) - 500 1,000 
Contracts costs incurred up to the reporting date 2,415 6,375 8,500 
Estimated profit for whole contract 1,950 2,000 2,500 

The variation in cost and revenue in year 2 and 3 has been approved by customer.   
Determine the stage of completion of contract and amount of revenue expenses and profit or 
loss to be recognised in the statement of Profit & Loss for three years as per AS-7 (Revised). 
 
Solution 
The amounts of revenue, expenses and profit recognized in the statement of profit and loss 
in three years are computed below:  

 Amount (In Lacs) 
 Up to the  

reporting date 
Recognized in 
previous years 

Recognized in 
current year 

Year 1    
Revenue (10,000 x 30%) 3,000  3,000 
Expenses (8,050 x 30%) 2,415  2,415 

Profit 585  585 
Year 2    
Revenue (10,500 x 75%) 7,875 3,000 4,875 
Expenses (8,500 x 75%) 6,375 2,415 3,960 

Profit 1,500 585 915 
Year 3    
Revenue (11,000 x 100%) 11,000 7,875 3,125 
Expenses (8,500 x 100%) 8,500 6,375 2,125 

Profit 2,500 1,500 1,000 
 
Working Note - Calculation of stage of completion of contract 

 Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 
Revenue after considering variations  10,000 10,500 11,000 
Less: Estimated profit for whole contract 1,950 2,000 2,500 
Estimated total cost of the contract (A) 8,050 8,500 8,500 
Actual cost incurred upto the reporting date (B) 2,415 6,375 8,500 

Degree of completion (B/A) 30% 75% 100% 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Pg no._____  Question 1 
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Rajendra undertook a contract ₹ 20,00,000 on an arrangement that 80% of the value of work 
done, as certified by the architect of the contractee should be paid immediately and that the 
remaining 20% be retained until the Contract was completed.  
In Year 1, the amounts expended were ₹ 8,60,000, the work was certified for ₹ 8,00,000 and 
80% of this was paid as agreed. It was estimated that future expenditure to complete the 
Contract would be ₹ 10,00,000.  
In Year 2, the amounts expended were ₹ 4,75,000. Three-fourth of the work under contract 
was certified as done by December 31st and 80% of this was received accordingly. It was 
estimated that future expenditure to complete the Contract would be ₹ 4,00,000.  
In Year 3, the amounts expended were ₹ 3,10,000 and on June 30th, the whole Contract was 
completed.  
Show how Contract revenue would be recognized in the P & L A/c of Mr. Rajendra each year. 
 
Solution 

Year 1 ₹ 
Actual expenditure 8,60,000 

Future estimated expenditure 10,00,000 
Total Expenditure 18,60,000 

% of work completed = 
8,60,000 ×100

18,60,000
 = 46.24% (rounded off) 

Revenue to be recognized      = 20,00,000 x 46.24% = ₹ 9,24,800 
 

Year 2 ₹ 
Expenditure incurred in Year 1 8,60,000 
Actual expenditure in Year 2 4,75,000 

Future estimated expenditure 4,00,000 
 17,35,000 

% of work completed = 
4,75,000+ 8,60,000

17,35,000
  = 76.95% (rounded off) 

Revenue to be recognized (cumulative)    = 20,00,000 × 76.95% = 15,39,000 
Less: Revenue recognized in Year 1       = (9,24,800) 
Revenue to be recognized in Year 2       =   6,14,200 
 
Year 3 
Whole contract got completed therefore total contract value less revenue recognized up to 
year 2 will be amount of revenue to be recognized in year 3 i.e. 20,00,000 – 15,39,000 (9,24,800 
+ 6,14,200) = ₹ 4,61,000. 
Note: Calendar year has been considered as accounting year. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Pg no._____  (Inter Nov 2020) (5 Marks) Question 2 
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The following data is provided for M/s. Raj Construction Co. 
(i) Contract Price - ₹ 85 lakhs 
(ii) Materials issued - ₹ 21 Lakhs out of which Materials costing ₹ 4 Lakhs is still lying 

unused at the end of the period. 
(iii) Labour Expense for workers engaged at site 16 Lakhs (out of which 1 Lakh is still unpaid) 
(iv) Specific Contract Costs - ₹ 5 Lakhs 
(v) SubContract Costs for work executed 7 Lakhs, Advances paid to subcontractors 4 Lakhs 
(vi) Further Cost estimated to be incurred to complete the contract - ₹ 35 Lakhs 
You are required to compute the Percentage of Completion, the Contract Revenue and Cost to 
be recognized as per AS-7. 
 

Solution 
Computation of contract cost 

 ₹ Lakh ₹ Lakh 
Material cost incurred on the contract (net of closing stock) (21- 4) 17 
Add: Labour cost incurred on contract (incl. outstanding amount)  16 
Specified contract cost given 5 
Sub-contract cost (advances should not be considered)  7 
Cost incurred (till date)  45 
Add: further cost to be incurred  35 
Total contract cost  80 

Percentage of completion = Cost incurred till date/Estimated total cost 
= ₹ 45,00,000/₹ 80,00,000 = 56.25% 
Contract revenue and costs to be recognized  
Contract revenue (₹ 85,00,000 x 56.25%) = ₹ 47,81,250  Contract costs = ₹45,00,000 
 
 
 
Mr. ‘X’ as a contractor has just entered into a contract with a local municipal body for building 
a flyover. As per the contract terms, ‘X’ will receive an additional ₹ 2 crore if the construction 
of the flyover were to be finished within a period of two years of the commencement of the 
contract. Mr. X wants to recognize this revenue since in the past he has been able to meet 
similar targets very easily. Is X correct in his proposal? Discuss. 
 
Solution 
According to AS 7 (Revised) ‘Construction Contracts’, incentive payments are additional 
amounts payable to the contractor if specified performance standards are met or exceeded. 
For example, a contract may allow for an incentive payment to the contractor for early 
completion of the contract.  
Incentive payments are included in contract revenue when:   
(i) the contract is sufficiently advanced that it is probable that the specified performance 

standards will be met or exceeded; and  
(ii) the amount of the incentive payment can be measured reliably.  
In the given problem, the contract has not even begun and hence the contractor (Mr. X) should 
not recognize any revenue of this contract 
 
 
 
 

Pg no._____  (Inter July 2021) (5 Marks) Question 3 

 

Pg no._____  (RTP Nov 2021) Question 4 
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M/s Highway Constructions undertook the construction of a highway on 01.04.2019. The 
contract was to be completed in 2 years. The contract price was estimated at ₹ 150 crores. Up 
to 31.03.2020 the company incurred ₹ 120 crores on the construction. The engineers involved 
in the project estimated that a further ₹ 45 crores would be incurred for completing the work.  
What amount should be charged to revenue for the year 2019-20 as per the provisions of 
Accounting Standard 7 "Construction Contracts"? Show the extract of the Profit & Loss A/c in 
the books of M/s. Highway Constructions. 
 
Solution 
Statement showing the amount to be charged to Revenue as per AS 7 

 ₹ in crores 
Cost of construction incurred upto 31.03.2020 120 
Add: Estimated future cost 45 
Total estimated cost of construction 165 
Degree of completion (120/165 x 100) 72.73% 
Revenue recognized (72.73% of 150) 109 (approx.) 
Total foreseeable loss (165 – 150) 15 
Less: Loss for the current year (120 – 109) 11 
Loss to be provided for 4 

Profit & Loss A/c (Extract) 
 ₹ in crores  ₹ in crores 

To Construction costs 120 By Contract Price 109 
To Provision for loss 4 By Net Loss 15 
 124  124 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Pg no._____  Question 5 
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Grace Ltd., a firm of contractors provided the following information in respect of a contract 

for the year ended on 31st March,2022: 

Particulars (₹ in ‘000) 
Fixed Price Contract with an escalation clause  35,000 
Work Certified 17,500 
Work not Certified (includes ₹ 26,25,000 for materials issued, out of 
which material lying unused at the end of the period is ₹ 1,40,000)  

3,815 

Estimated further cost to completion 17,325 
Progress Payment Received 14,000 
Payment to be Received 4,900 
Escalation in cost is by 8% and accordingly the contract price is 
increased by 8% 

 

From the above information, you are required to: 

(i) Compute the contract revenue to be recognized. 
(ii) Calculate Profit /Loss for the year ended 31st March,2022 and additional provision for loss 

to be made, if any, for the year ended 31st March,2022. 
 
Solution 
Calculation of total estimated cost of construction 
 (₹ in ‘000) (₹ in ‘000) 
 Cost of Contract incurred till date   
      Work certified 17,500  
      Work not certified (3,815 thousand – 140 thousand) 3,675 21,175 
 Add: Estimated future cost  17,325 
 Total estimated cost of construction  38,500 
 Contract Price (35,000 thousand x 1.08)  37,800 
 

Stage of completion 
Percentage of completion till date to total estimated cost of construction  
= [Cost of work completed till date / total estimated cost of the contract] x 100  
= [₹ 21,175 thousand / ₹ 38,500 thousand] x 100= 55% 
 

Revenue to be recognized for the year ended 31st March, 2022 
Proportion of total contract value recognized as revenue = Contract price x percentage of 
completion = ₹ 37,800 thousand x 55% = ₹ 20,790 thousand 
 

Loss to be recognized for the year ended 31st March, 2022 
Loss for the year ended 31st March, 2022 = Cost incurred till date – Revenue to be 
recognized for the year ended 31st March, 2022  
= ₹ 21,175 thousand – ₹ 20,790 thousand = ₹ 385 thousand 
 

Provision for loss to be made at the end of 31st March, 2022 
 (₹ in ‘000) (₹ in ‘000) 

 Total estimated loss on the contract   

       Total estimated cost of the contract 38,500  

       Less: Total revised contract price (37,800) 700 

 Less: Loss recognized for the year ended 31st March, 2022  (385) 

 Provision for loss to be made at the end of 31st March, 2022  315 

Pg no._____  (Inter May 2022) (5 Marks) Question 6 
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Fisher Construction Co. obtained a contract for construction of a commercial complex. The 
following details are available in records of a company for the year ended 31st March, 2023: 

Particulars Amount in Lakhs 
Total contract price 24,000 
Work certified 12,500 
Work not certified 2,500 
Estimated further cost to completion of work 17,500 
Progress payment received 11,000 
Progress payment to be received 3,000 

Applying the provisions of AS 7, you are required to compute:  
a. Profit / Loss for the year ended 31st March, 2023. 
b. Contract work in progress at the end of financial year 2022-2023.  
c. Revenue to be recognized out of the total contract value. 
d. Amount due from/ to customers as at the year end. 
 
Solution  
  (₹ In lakhs) 
(i) Profit or Loss for the year ended 31.03.2023  
 Total cost of construction (12,500 + 2,500 + 17,500)    32,500 
 Less: Total contract price (24,000) 

 Total foreseeable loss to be recognized as expense 8,500 

According AS 7, when it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract 
revenue; the expected loss should be recognized as an expense immediately. 

 
  (₹ in lakhs) 

(ii) Contract work-in-progress i.e. cost incurred to date are 15,000 lakhs  
 Work certified 12,500 
 Work not certified 2,500 
 Contract work in progress at the end of 2022-23 15,000 

 
(iii) Proportion of total contract value recognized as revenue: 

For this, cost incurred till 31.03.2023 is 46.154% (15,000/32,500 x 100) to total costs of 
construction. 
Therefore, Proportion of total contract value recognized as revenue is 
46.154% of ₹ 24,000 lakhs = ₹ 11,076.96 lakhs      Or  
46.15% (Approx.) of ₹ 24,000 lakhs = ₹ 11,076 lakhs 
 

(iv) Amount due from/ to customers = 
(Contract costs + Recognised profits – Recognised Losses) 
– (Progress payments received + Progress payments to be received) 
= (15,000 + Nil – 8,500) – (11,000 + 3,000) ₹ in lakhs 
= [6,500 – 14,000] ₹ in lakhs 
Amount due to customers = ₹ 7,500 lakhs 

 
 
 
 

Pg no._____  (Inter May 2023) (5 Marks) 

 

Question 7 
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GTI Ltd. negotiates with Bharat Oil Corporation Ltd. (BOCL), for construction of “Retail Petrol 
& Diesel Outlet Stations”. Based on proposals submitted to different Regional Offices of BOCL, 
the final approval for one outlet each in Region X, Region Y, Region Z is awarded to GTI Ltd. A 
single agreement is entered into between two. The agreement lays down values for each of 
the three outlets i.e. ₹102 lacs, ₹150 lacs, ₹130 lacs for Region X, Region Y, Region Z 
respectively. Agreement also lays down completion time for each Region.  
Comment whether GTI Ltd. will treat it as single contract or three separate contracts with 
reference to AS-7? 
 
Solution 
As per AS 7 ‘Construction Contracts’, when a contract covers number of assets, the 
construction of each asset should be treated as a separate construction contract when:  
a) separate proposals have been submitted for each asset;  
b) each asset has been subject to separate negotiation and the contractor and customer 

have been able to accept or reject that part of the contract relating to each asset; and  
c) the costs and revenues of each asset can be identified.  

In the given case, each outlet is submitted as a separate proposal to different Zonal Offices, 
which can be separately negotiated, and costs and revenues thereof can be separately 
identified. Hence, each asset will be treated as a “separate contract” even if there is one single 
agreement for contracts.  

Therefore, three separate contract accounts must be recorded and maintained in the 
books of GTI Ltd. For each contract, principles of revenue and cost recognition must be applied 
separately and net income will be determined for each asset as per AS 7. 
 

Pg no._____  (RTP May 2019) Question 8 
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AS-1: DISCLOSURE OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
Objectives 

• Disclosure of significant accounting policies followed in preparing and presenting financial statements. 

• Manner in which accounting policies are disclosed in financial statements 
 

Accounting Policies 

Meaning These are:  
→ Specific accounting principles (Like AS 2 – Lower of Cost or NRV) and  
→ Methods of applying those principles (Like AS 2 – FIFO or Weighted Average) 

adopted by the enterprise in the preparation & presentation of financial statements.  
 

Notes • There is no single list of accounting policies which are applicable to all circumstances. 
The differing circumstances in which the enterprises operate make alternative 

accounting policies acceptable. 

• Choice of the appropriate accounting policies in these specific circumstances of each 
enterprise requires considerable judgement by the management of the enterprise. 

 

Fundamental Accounting Assumptions (PARA 10) 

Name Going 

concern  

It is assumed that an enterprise will continue its operations in the 

foreseeable future and neither there is intention, nor there is need to 
materially curtail the scale of operations. 

Consistency It is assumed that accounting policies are consistent from one period to 
another. 

Accrual  Under this basis of accounting, transactions are recognised as soon as 
they occur, whether or not cash or cash equivalent is actually received 
or paid. 

Notes • If the above said assumptions are followed in financial statements, specific disclosure is 

not required. 

• If a fundamental accounting assumption is not followed, the fact should be disclosed. 

• Disclosure is necessary if not followed. 

Considerations in the selection of Accounting Policies 

Primary 

considerati

on 

Financial statements should present true and fair view of  

→ The state of affairs of the enterprise as at the balance sheet date and  

→ The profit or loss for the period ended on that date  
  

Secondary 

considerati

on 

 

Prudence While recognizing the incomes, expenses and losses the principle of 
prudence should be followed. The income should be recognized only 

when it is certain to be received. (Profits are not anticipated)  
The provision should be created for all the known liabilities and losses.  

 

Substance 

over form 

It implies that suitable changes may be made in the legal form of 

presentation to disclose the substance in a true and fair manner. 
Example: 

a) Agreement to Sell 
b) Hire Purchase Transaction 

Materiality Any item of financial statements which can influence the decision of the 
user is termed as material item and all the material items should be 
disclosed in the financial statements 
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Disclosure of Accounting Policies 
Points to 

note 

➢ All the accounting policies need to be disclosed at one place 

➢ These should form an integral part of the financial statements.  
➢ These are usually disclosed in “Notes to Accounts” 
 

Examples 

(Areas in 

which 

different 

accounting 

policies may 

be adopted) 

• Valuation of Inventory  

• Treatment of Goodwill  

• Valuation of Investment  

• Treatment of Retirement benefit 

• Valuation of Fixed assets  

• Treatment of Contingent liabilities.  

• Treatment of Expenditure during construction 

• Conversion or translation of Foreign currency items.  

 

Change in an Accounting Policy (PARA 26) 
When 

change can 

be done? 

Accounting policy may be changed only if  

→ Required by Statute 
→ For Compliance with an Accounting Standard 
→ For better presentation or true and fair view of the financial statements 

 

Points to 

note 

(PARA 26) 

• Any change in an accounting policy which has a material effect  in the current period 

or which is reasonably expected to have a material effect in later periods should be 
disclosed 

• The amount by which any item is affected by such change should also be disclosed to 
the extent ascertainable.  

• Where such amount is not ascertainable wholly or in part, the fact should be 
indicated. 

• Any change in policy which does not affect the current period but can have material 
effect in the later periods, then such fact should be disclosed.  

 

Disclosure 

requirement 

 

• Old policy  

• New policy  

• Reason for change in policy  

• Impact of such change  
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Question 1   
X Limited has sold its building for Rs. 50 lakhs to the purchaser who has paid the full price. Company 

has given possession to the purchaser. The book value of the building is Rs. 35 lakhs. As at 31st March, 
2020, documentation and legal formalities are pending. The company has not recorded the sale. It has 
shown the amount received as advance. Do you agree with this accounting treatment done by X Ltd.?  

What accounting treatment should the buyer give in its financial statements? 

 

Solution 
Although legal title has not been transferred, the economic reality and substance is that the rights and 

beneficial interest in the immovable property have been transferred. Therefore, recording of disposal by 
the transferor would in substance represent the transaction entered into.  

In view of this, X Ltd. should record the sales and recognize the profit of Rs. 15 lakhs in its 
Statement of Profit and Loss. It should remove building account from its balance sheet.  

Further, in its ‘Notes to Accounts’, X Ltd. should disclose the following: 
“Building has been sold and full consideration has been received and possession of the same has been 

handed over to the buyer. However, documentation and legal formalities are pending as on 31.3.2020.” 
 
The buyer should recognize the building as an asset in his balance sheet and charge depreciation 

on it. The buyer should disclose in his notes to account that possession has been received however 
documentation and legal formalities are pending. 

 

Question 2 
State whether the following statements are 'True' or 'False'. Also give reason for your answer.   
(i) Certain fundamental accounting assumptions underline the preparation and presentation of financial 

statements. They are usually specifically stated because their acceptance and use are not assumed.   
(ii) If fundamental accounting assumptions are not followed in presentation and preparation of financial 

statements, a specific disclosure is not required.   
(iii) All significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation & presentation of financial statements 

should form part of the financial statements.   

(iv) Any change in an accounting policy, which has a material effect should be disclosed. Where the 
amount by which any item in the financial statements is affected by such change is not ascertainable, 

wholly or in part, the facts need not to be indicated. 
(v) There is no single list of accounting policies which are applicable to all circumstances 

 

Solution 

(i) False; As per AS 1 “Disclosure of Accounting Policies”, certain fundamental accounting 
assumptions underlie the preparation and presentation of financial statements. They are usually not 

specifically stated because their acceptance and use are assumed.  Disclosure is necessary if they are 
not followed.   

(ii) False; As per AS 1, if the fundamental accounting assumptions, viz. Going Concern, Consistency 

and Accrual are followed in financial statements, specific disclosure is not required. If a fundamental 
accounting assumption is not followed, the fact should be disclosed.  

(iii) True; To ensure proper understanding of financial statements, it is necessary that all significant 
accounting policies adopted in the preparation and presentation of financial statements should be 
disclosed. The disclosure of the significant accounting policies as such should form part of the 

financial statements and they should be disclosed in one place.  

(iv) False; Any change in the accounting policies which has a material effect in the current period or 

which is reasonably expected to have a material effect in later periods should be disclosed. Where 
such amount is not ascertainable, wholly or in part, the fact should be indicated.  

(v) True; As per AS 1, there is no single list of accounting policies which are applicable to all 
circumstances. The differing circumstances in which enterprises operate in a situation of diverse and 
complex economic activity make alternative accounting principles and methods of applying those 

principles acceptable. 
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Question 3 
In the books of M/s Prashant Ltd. closing inventory as on 31.03.2021 amounts to Rs. 1,63,000 (on the 

basis of FIFO method). 
The company decides to change from FIFO method to weighted average method for ascertaining the 
cost of inventory from the year 2020-21. On the basis of weighted average method, closing inventory as 

on 31.03.2021 amounts to Rs. 1,47,000. Realisable value of the inventory as on 31.03.2021 amounts to 
Rs. 1,95,000. 

Discuss disclosure requirement of change in accounting policy as per AS-1. 
 

Solution 
As per AS 1 “Disclosure of Accounting Policies”, any change in an accounting policy which has a 
material effect should be disclosed in the financial statements. The amount by which any item in the 

financial statements is affected by such change should also be disclosed to the extent ascertainable. 

Where such amount is not ascertainable, wholly or in part, the fact should be indicated.  
Thus Prashant Ltd. should disclose the change in valuation method of inventory and its effect on 

financial statements. The company may disclose change in accounting policy in the following manner: 
 

‘The company values its inventory at lower of cost and net realisable value. Since net realisable value of 
all items of inventory in the current year was greater than respective costs, the company valued its 

inventory at cost. In the present year i.e. 2020-21, the company has changed to weighted average 
method, which better reflects the consumption pattern of inventory, for ascertaining inventory costs from 
the earlier practice of using FIFO for the purpose. The change in policy has reduced current profit and 

value of inventory by Rs. 16,000’. 
 

Question 4 
HIL Ltd. was making provision for non-moving stocks based on no issues having occurred for the last 12 
months upto 31.03.2020. The company now wants to make provision based on technical evaluation 

during the year ending 31.03.2021.  
 Total value of stock Rs. 120 lakhs  

 Provision required based on technical evaluation Rs. 3.00 lakhs.  
 Provision required based on 12 months no issues Rs. 4.00 lakhs.  
You are requested to discuss the following points in the light of Accounting Standard (AS)-1: 

(i)  Does this amount to change in accounting policy?  
(ii) Can the company change the method of accounting? 

 

Solution 

The decision of making provision for non-moving inventories on the basis of technical evaluation does 

not amount to change in accounting policy. Accounting  policy of a company may require that provision 
for non-moving inventories  should be made but the basis for making provision will not constitute 
accounting policy. The method of estimating the amount of provision may be changed in case a more 

prudent estimate can be made.  
 In the given case, considering the total value of inventory, the change in the amount of required 

provision of non-moving inventory from Rs. 4 lakhs to Rs. 3 lakhs is also not material. The disclosure 
can be made for such change in the following lines by way of notes to the accounts in the annual 

accounts of HIL Ltd. for the year 2020-21 in the following manner: 
  “The company has provided for non-moving inventories on the basis of technical evaluation 

unlike preceding years. Had the same method been followed as in the  previous year, the profit for the 
year and the value of net assets at the end of the  year would have been lower by Rs. 1 lakh.” 
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Question 5 
ABC Financial Services Ltd. is engaged in the business of financial services and is undergoing tight 

liquidity position, since most of the assets of the company are blocked in various claims/petitions in a 
Special Court. ABC Financial Services Ltd. has accepted Inter Corporate Deposits (ICDs) and it is 
making its best efforts to settle the dues. There were claims at varied rates of interest, from lenders, from 

the due date of ICDs to the date of repayment. The company has provided interest, as per the terms of 
the contract till the due date and a note for non-provision of interest from the due date to date of 

repayment was mentioned in financial statements.  On account of uncertainties existing regarding the 
determination of the amount and in the absence of any specific legal obligation at present as per the 

terms of contracts, the company considers that these claims are in the nature of “claims against the 
company not acknowledged as debt”, and the same has been disclosed by way of a note in the accounts 
instead of making a provision in the Profit and Loss Account.  State whether the treatment done by the 

company is correct or not as per relevant accounting Standard. 
 

Solution 
AS 1 recognizes 'prudence' as one of the major considerations governing the selection and application of 
accounting policies. In view of the uncertainty attached to future events, profits are not anticipated but 

recognized only when realized though not necessarily in cash. Provision is made for all known liabilities 
and losses even though the amount cannot be determined with certainty and represents only a best 

estimate in the light of available information. Also as per AS 1, ‘accrual’ is one of the fundamental 
accounting assumptions.  

Irrespective of the terms of the contract, so long as the principal amount of a loan is not repaid, 

the lender cannot be replaced in a disadvantageous position for non-payment of interest in respect of 
overdue amount. From the aforesaid, it is apparent that the company has an obligation on account of the 

overdue interest.  
In this situation, the company should provide for the liability (since it is not waived by the 

lenders) at an amount estimated or on reasonable basis based on facts and circumstances of each case. 
However, in respect of the overdue interest amounts, which are settled, the liability should be accrued to 
the extent of amounts settled. Non-provision of the overdue interest liability amounts to violation of 

accrual basis of accounting. Therefore, the treatment, done by the company, of not providing the interest 
amount from due date to the date of repayment is not correct. 
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